
· 

 

 

“FOIA Compliance – Public notification of this meeting has been published and posted in 
Compliance with the Freedom of Information Act and the Town of Yemassee policies.” 

 
• Please note that each member of the pubic may speak during the Public 
Comment period at the end of the meeting. A Public Comment form must be 

filled out and submitted to the Town Clerk prior to the start of the meeting. Public 
comment must not exceed two (2) minutes. 

 

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF YEMASSEE TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 

Tuesday, April 13, 2021 – 6:30PM 

101 Town Cir, Yemassee, SC 29945 

In person attendance at the meeting is limited to the first ten (10) persons, due to COVID-19 

I. Call to Order – Mayor Colin Moore 
II. Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation 

III. Determination of Quorum 
a. Consent of the Agenda for the April 13, 2021 Town Council Meeting 
b. Approval of the March 9, 2021 Town Council Meeting Minutes 

IV. Proclamations & Hearings 
a. An appeal hearing regarding the suspension of Business License 

#210099; U.S. Iron Works located at 76 Willis Street North 
b. A Proclamation designated April as Fair Housing Month, in the Town of 

Yemassee 
V. Old Business 

a. Consideration of a Request for an Ordinance Approving Annexation of 
Approximately 4.50 Acres of Land, located at 225 Bailey Road, and further 
identified by Beaufort County TMS: R700 019 0000 0064 0000. [Ordinance 
21-07] 

VI. New Business 
a. Consideration of a Request for an Ordinance Approving Annexation of 

Approximately 0.88 Acres of Land, located on Thomas Street, and further 
identified by Hampton County TMS: 198-00-00-068. Applicant: Willie 
Williams [Ordinance 21-11] 

b. Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Portions of the Town of 
Yemassee Code, within Chapter 5 (Buildings, Flood Control & Planning) 
specifically, Articles I, II, III, IV, V and VII, titled respectively Article I. 
Administration, Article II. Codes, Article III. Building and Property Numbers, 



· 

 

 

“FOIA Compliance – Public notification of this meeting has been published and posted in 
Compliance with the Freedom of Information Act and the Town of Yemassee policies.” 

 
• Please note that each member of the pubic may speak during the Public 
Comment period at the end of the meeting. A Public Comment form must be 

filled out and submitted to the Town Clerk prior to the start of the meeting. Public 
comment must not exceed two (2) minutes. 

Article IV. Mobile Homes, Article V. Fair Housing and Article VII. Planning, 
Land Use & Zoning. [Ordinance 21-13]  

c. Consideration of a Resolution Authorizing the Execution of an 
Intergovernmental Agreement between the Town of Yemassee and 
Beaufort County for Special Projects and Associated Services [Resolution 
21-17] 

VII. Department Reports 
a. Police Department 
b. Administration 
c. Municipal Court 
d. Public Works 

VIII. Public Comment 
a. Public Comment must be submitted to the Town Clerk at least five minutes 

prior to the start of the meeting. 
IX. Executive Session 

a. Discussion of employment, appointment, compensation, promotion, 
demotion, discipline, or release of an employee, a student, or a person 
regulated by a public body or the appointment of a person to a public 
body (Pursuant to SC Freedom of Information Act 30-4-70[a][1]) 

b. Discussion of negotiations incident to proposed contractual arrangements 
and proposed sale or purchase of property, the receipt of legal advice 
where the legal advice relates to a pending, threatened, or potential claim 
or other matters covered by the attorney-client privilege, settlement of 
legal claims, or the position of the public agency in other adversary 
situations involving the assertion against the agency of a claim. (Pursuant 
to SC Freedom of Information Act 30-4-70[a][2]) 

c. Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the 
provision of services encouraging location or expansion of industries or 
other businesses in the area served by the public body (Pursuant to SC 
Freedom of Information Act 30-4-70[a][5]) 

i. Beaufort County Economic Development Corporation. 
X. Action from Executive Session 

XI. Adjournment 



   
 
 

 
Yemassee Municipal Complex 

101 Town Cir     P.O. Box 577 Yemassee, SC 29945-0577 
Telephone (843) 589-2565   Fax (843) 589-4305 

www.townofyemassee.org 

Colin J Moore  Council Members 
Mayor  Michelle Hagan 
Peggy Bing-O’Banner  Charlie Simmons 
Mayor Pro Tempore  Alfred Washington 

Matthew Garnes   
Town Clerk   

 
Town Council Agenda Item 

 
Subject: Approval of the March 9, 2021 Town Council Meeting Minutes 
 
Department: Administration 
 
Attachments:  
 
____ Ordinance _____ Resolution ______ Motion 
 
_____ Support Documents                    _______ Other 
 

Summary: Approval of the March 9, 2021 Town Council Meeting Minutes 
 
Recommended Action: Approve the minutes as presented. 
 
 
Council Action: 
____ Approved as Recommended 
____ Approved with Modifications 
____ Disapproved 
____ Tabled to Time Certain 
____ Other 
 
 



1 | P a g e  
 

Minutes 
Town of Yemassee Town Council 

March 9, 2021 Town Council Meeting; 6:30PM 
101 Town Cir, Yemassee, SC 29945 

 

Attendance: 

Present: Mayor Colin Moore, Mayor Pro-Tem Peggy O’Banner, Councilmember Alfred 
Washington, Councilmember Charlie Simmons, Town Clerk Matthew Garnes and Police 
Chief Gregory Alexander. 

Absent: Councilmember Michelle Hagan 

Media Present: Lowcountry Inside Track Ltd. 

Call to Order:  

Mayor Moore called the Tuesday March 9, 2021 Town Council Meeting to order at 
6:32PM. 

Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation:  

Council Member O’Banner gave the invocation and lead the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Consent of the Agenda: 

Mayor Moore asked for a motion to approve the Agenda as presented. Council Member 
O’Banner made the motion. There was no discussion on the motion. Second by Council 
Member Simmons, all in favor. Motion Passed 

Mayor Moore asked for a motion to approve the February 9, 2021 Town Council 
Meeting Minutes as presented. Council Member O’Banner made the motion. There was 
no discussion. Second by Council Member Simmons, all in favor. Motion Passed 

Mayor Moore asked for a motion to approve the February 15, 2021 Special Town 
Council Meeting Minutes as presented. Council Member Washington made the motion. 
There was no discussion. Second by Council Member O’Banner, all in favor. Motion 
Passed. 

New Business: 

Mayor Moore read proposed Ordinance 21-07, Consideration of an Ordinance 
Approving Annexation of One Parcel of land, totaling 4.50 Acres located at 225 Bailey 
Road, Beaufort County TMS: R700 019 000 0064 0000. The applicants are Darrell & 



2 | P a g e  
 

Wanda Johnson, and the property is currently undeveloped. The parcel is currently 
zoned T2R Rural by the Beaufort County Community Development Code. The proposed 
zoning upon annexation would be General Residential. General Residential allows for 
single family dwellings as well as mobile homes. There is no proposed change in use 
because of the annexation. Mayor Moore asked for a motion to approve first reading. 
Council Member Simmons made the motion. There was no discussion. Second by 
Council Member O’Banner. All in favor, Motion Passed. 
 
Mayor Moore read the renewal of a Proclamation of a Local State of Emergency in the 
Town of Yemassee. Mayor Moore asked for a motion to adopt the Proclamation. Council 
Member O’Banner made the motion. There was no discussion. Second by Council 
Member Simmons. All in favor, Motion Passed. 
 
Mayor Moore read Emergency Ordinance 21-08 extending the face mask requirement, 
Emergency Ordinance 21-09 renewing the standards for electronic meetings in the 
Town of Yemassee and Emergency Ordinance 21-10 which authorizes the Town Clerk 
to develop and enact any plans or policies needed to ensure the continuity in 
government services. Mayor Moore said these are renewals of what we have already 
passed previously. Council Member O’Banner stated she agrees with renewing them 
and that its too soon to ease up. Council Member O’Banner made the motion. There 
was no discussion. Second by Council Member Washington. Council Member Simmons 
opposed. Mayor Moore in favor. Motion Passed. 
 
Department Reports 

• Police Department – No Report 
• Administration – COVID testing events continue every Monday from 9AM – 1PM.  
• Public Works – the Community Center and Willis Street Basketball Court 

bathrooms have been painted. New playground equipment was installed today. 
Public Works picked up a fair amount of litter on Salkehatchie Road and Willis 
Street North today 

• Municipal Court – No Report 
 
 
Public Comment: Three public comments received. (PUBLIC COMMENTS 
ATTACHED TO MINUTES AS PART OF THE RECORD) 
 
Adjournment 
 
Mayor Moore asked for motion to adjourn. Council Member Simmons made the motion 
to adjourn. Second by Council Member O’Banner. All in favor, Meeting Adjourned at 
7:04PM 



3/9/21 
Yemassee Town Council 
Attn: Town Clerk, Mr. Matthew Garnes 

Dear Council Members, 
Thank you for this opportunity to comment on behalf of the Coastal Conservation 

League regarding the requested annexation of 225 Bailey Rd, comprising 4.5 acres and 
abutting Tomotely Plantation. This is the first annexation using the expanded contiguity 
lines resulting from the Tomotely Plantation and Cotton Hall annexations that were 
approved at your last meeting.  

Last month’s annexations have opened the Town to new opportunities for growth, 
as evidenced by tonight’s annexation request. We understand and appreciate the property 
owner’s desire to be in the Town limits as well as the Town’s desire to grow. However, 
without implementing updated and proactive planning tools, the Town could face 
unintended consequences, such as an inability to adequately service the community’s 
long-term needs, as a result of seemingly haphazard annexation strategies.  

This why we continue to urge the Town to adopt proactive planning measures to 
ensure that the Town grows in a way that benefits its current and future citizens, the 
surrounding, abundant natural resources, and access to economic opportunities. This can 
be achieved by adopting an urban growth boundary, by updating the Town’s 
Comprehensive Plan, and by updating the associated zoning codes. An urban growth 
boundary will officially set growth goals, determining where and how the Town will grow. A 
Comprehensive Plan update will provide a current-day overview of the Town, using data to 
assess growth trends and demographics and inventory important natural, historical, and 
cultural resources, while also incorporating public feedback to determine and help carry 
out community objectives for the future.  A Comprehensive Plan update will also inform 
updated zoning and zoning codes, resilience planning, and economic development 
planning.  Taken together, each tool will lay out the Town’s long- and short-term goals, set 
up the mechanisms for achieving them, and provide guidance throughout the process.  

By tackling these things now, the Town can achieve future growth goals with a clear 
vision of where it’s heading while maintaining the sense of place and natural resource 
values from which it’s coming. There are real consequences to growth without vision and 
these proactive growth planning tools will protect Yemassee from them. We applaud staff’s 
recognition of the importance of these tools and hope the Council will begin the process of 
implementing them as soon as possible.  

Thank you for your time and consideration on these very important matters. 

Respectfully, 
J U L I A N A  M .  S M I T H   
8 4 3 . 5 2 2 . 1 8 0 0  |  j u l i a n a s @ s c c c l . o r g  

PUBLIC COMMENT #1



PUBLIC COMMENT #2



To the Yemassee Town Council, 

 US Iron Works continues operations throughout the week to include weekends, producing 

sound and smells so bad that it is becoming intolerable to work and play in my own back yard. Nuisance 

is such a small word for the devastating environment that US Iron Works is creating at my home and 

neighborhood. We have ordnances to protect our citizens and businesses, but according to Matthew 

Garnes, our ordnances have expired, and cannot be enforced. Does anyone on the Yemassee Town 

Council, or our Mayor truly believe that we as a town cannot enforce our ordnances?  

 As last time, I am asking for help. It takes leadership to admit when something goes wrong, and 

it takes guts to revoke business licenses when ordnances are blatantly broken each day. Standing up to 

this corporation owned by a person not even living in this state is the thing to do. Will our Town of 

Yemassee continue to cater towards the needs of this corporation over the wellbeing of its citizens?  

Thank You for your time. 

Michael Weiss 



PUBLIC COMMENT FORM 

Name: Ryan Paiva 

Address: 62 Cameron Drive, Yemassee, SC 

Matter to be discussed: Please see attached below. 

___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________ 

Public comment is limited to two minutes in length. Public Comment forms 
must be submitted to the Town Clerk prior to start of the meeting. Please 

address the Council, Staff and attending public with respect. 

PUBLIC COMMENT #3



Dear Council Members, 
 
From the previous town meeting, I left with the impression that a serious investigation was going 
to take place. As of today, we have received no inquiries and not a single visitor and yet we 
continue to deal with this nuisance on a daily basis. In a recent call, Mr. Garnes mentioned that 
the investigation may be handled by DHEC and not the council, and so I called DHEC to clarify. 
DHEC was very, very clear that the only thing they do is enforce EPA permits, and thus would 
not and can not participate in any such investigation as it relates to the town. For instance, I 
could open a toxic waste dump in my backyard and they would only be involved to the extent of 
making sure we had any required federal permits. Just like with the illegal mill scrap operations 
at 76 Willis, their perspective is that it would be the town’s sole responsibility to safeguard its 
citizens against illegally operating businesses that are violating the town code and zoning 
ordinances. However, I do not believe that any such investigation is necessary as our town code 
and ordinances are very clear on this issue: 
 

● The Light Industrial District (LID) requires all business to be conducted indoors. US 
Ironworks is conducting all of its business outdoors. 

● The LID specifically forbids the use of heavy equipment. The entirety of US Ironworks 
operations requires the constant use of multi-ton heavy diesel equipment. 

● The LID specifically forbids the use of metal that is not a finished product. The entirety of 
US Ironworks operations is the processing of unfinished metal products. 

● The LID requires all operations to be conducted more than 100 feet from adjoining 
residential properties. US Ironworks is operating its heavy machinery within 100 feet 
from Mr. Weiss’s home on a daily basis.  

● The LID requires waste and salvage to be stored indoors. US Ironworks stores all of their 
waste and salvage outdoors. 

● The LID forbids the creation of smell, vibration, or sound that creates a nuisance beyond 
its property boundaries regardless of time of day. US Ironworks is creating diesel 
exhaust and noise that can be heard, smelled, and tasted from our backyards. We can 
hear it indoors. It shakes our bedrooms in the morning. It pulsingly vibrates my home 
office while I am trying to work. 

 
As our zoning laws are an exact copy of the town of Bluffton’s, I called their zoning department 
for advice. They said in very confident terms that the necessary steps are to revoke the 
business license, send them notice of non-compliance to cease and desist, and begin to issue 
fines if they continue. This is a legal obligation of our zoning laws, and one that I hope the town 
will take action on immediately. Bluffton was also clear that any business with the 
comprehensive plan being out of date would not impact their ability to enforce zoning.  
 
Mr. Garnes can attest that I have demonstrated a sincere willingness to partner with the town on 
this issue, and an eagerness to partner on future endeavors. I believe at this point this issue has 
a clear legal conclusion, and is now simply a matter of will on the part of our town. 
 
Sincerely, 
-Ryan Paiva 



   
 
 

 
Yemassee Municipal Complex 

101 Town Cir     P.O. Box 577 Yemassee, SC 29945-0577 
Telephone (843) 589-2565   Fax (843) 589-4305 

www.townofyemassee.org 

Colin J Moore  Council Members 
Mayor  Michelle Hagan 
Peggy Bing-O’Banner  Charlie Simmons 
Mayor Pro Tempore  Alfred Washington 

Matthew Garnes   
Town Clerk   

 
Town Council Agenda Item 

 
Subject: Appeal hearing regarding the suspension of Business License 
#210099; U.S. Iron Works located at 76 Willis Street North 
 
Department: Business License 
 
Attachments:  
 
____ Ordinance ____ Resolution ______ Motion 
 
__X__ Support Documents                    _______ Other 
 

Summary: Pursuant with the provisions outlined in Chapter 15 of the Town of 
Yemassee Business License Ordinance, the Business Licensing Official, Lori Mixson, 
suspended the business license for U.S. IronWorks, operating at 76 Willis Street 
North for violating the provisions of the Business License Ordinance as well as the 
Town of Yemassee Zoning Ordinance and the Town of Yemassee Nuisance 
Ordinance. Pursuant to the Business License Ordinance, a hearing is required 
when the official suspends the business license of an entity within 30 days. 
 
Recommended Action: Town Staff recommend Council uphold the suspension  
 
 
Council Action: 
____ Approved as Recommended 
____ Approved with Modifications 
____ Disapproved 
____ Tabled to Time Certain 
____ Other 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Staff Report to Town Council 

From the Office of the Town Clerk 

April 13, 2021 

Project: Suspension of U.S. IronWorks 

1. Background 

On March 10, 2021, the Town of Yemassee suspended Business License# 210099 
that was issued to U.S. IronWorks, operating at 76 Willis Street North in the Town 
of Yemassee. The suspension was done in accordance with the provisions within 
the Town of Yemassee Business License Ordinance, Section 15 that directs the 
procedures surrounding the suspension of a license.  

 

On or around the late winter of 2019 into 2020, the Town received 
communication from Southern Carolina Alliance (abbreviated throughout this 
report as SCA), regarding an economic development opportunity that was 
coming to the Town at the site of the former woodyard (See Map Exhibit B) at 
the northwest corner of the intersection of Willis St N and Yemassee Hwy. 
Several months went by and in February of 2020, Town Staff noticed activity 
occurring on the IronWorks property including the placement of an RV, a large 
piece of unknown machinery, an excavator and other items that would be 
expected with an industrial occupancy. The company began conducting Business 
and the Mayor and Police Chief made contact with the site foreman who was 
informed about the Business License Ordinance and the need for U.S. IronWorks 
to procure one. On March 16, 2020, a license application was received from 
Stephen Roehrig who identified himself as the Manager on the Business License 
Application (See Exhibit C). The Business License application was reviewed by 
former Town employee Tiffany Houston, and a license was issued the same day 



(See Exhibit D). The Town Clerk reached out to the Owner, Thomas Fannell 
shortly after and asked to arrange a meeting as quickly as practical given the 
rapidly developing COVID-19 pandemic. Mr. Garnes explained to Mr. Fannell that 
the Town would like to see a conceptual plan of the type of building and 
operation they would be conducting and Mr. Fannell stated he would get up to 
Yemassee quickly. 

Town Staff received no communication from Mr.Fannell throughout 2020 and in 
January of 2021, the Town began receiving calls from residents of the Lanewood 
subdivision reporting concerns regarding the U.S. Iron Works site (see Exhibit E). 
The allegations were that the business was potentially causing health effects to 
the nearby neighborhood, operating loud and unseemly noise and a potential 
zoning conflict with the principal operating nature of the business.  

Staff began reviewing the complaints as well as the Ordinances that are 
applicable and while reviewing the original business license application, 
determined that the nature of business that was listed was incorrect and was 
listed as “Construction”. Section 15, (c) of the Business License Ordinance states a 
license may be suspended if: “A Licensee has obtained a license through a fraud, 
misrepresentation, a false or misleading, statement, evasion or suppression of a 
material fact in the license application; or…” The Licensing Official at the time did 
not check into the nature of business any further and prematurely issued the 
original license which is an additional reason for suspension. Section 15 (a) of the 
Business License Ordinance states a license may be suspended if “A License has 
been mistakenly or improperly issued or issued contrary to the law”. 

Staff conducted a review of the Zoning Ordinance that applies to this area “Light 
Industrial (LID)” and subsequently confirmed that the operation being done on 
site now was not permitted under the Light Industrial Zoning designation and 
that the work being done was not permitted under any Town of Yemassee 
Zoning District.  

During the investigation, Town Staff and members of Town Council received 
dozens of complaints regarding the U.S. Iron Works site and the Police 
Department received 911 calls regarding issues reported at the Iron Works site 
from nearby residents. Growing frustrated, the residents took it upon themselves 
to contact the South Carolina Department of Environmental Control and the 



Environmental Protection Agency’s Atlanta Field Office to request an 
investigation. The Town Clerk reached out a few times in the first quarter of 2021 
to Mr. Fannell to try and clarify work being done and to establish a meeting to 
voice concerns. The meeting never occurred to the dismay of staff. Accordingly, 
the license was suspended on the 10th with written service sent by USPS Certified 
Mail Return Receipt. The Town Attorney and Town Clerk met via phone with the 
legal counsel for U.S. Iron Works and informed them the circumstances 
regarding the suspension and informed them of the hearing date, time and 
process.  

2. Staff Comments
The Town has not suspended a Business License in recent history and does 
not take the matter of doing so, lightly. Given the totality of the 
circumstances, Staff recommends that the license suspension be upheld 
indefinitely on the following basis: 

• The principal business operation is not permitted as referenced and 
violated in the Zoning Ordinance (Section 4.2, 5.8.1, 5.8.2, 5.8.3, 5.8.4, 
5.8.5 and 5.86



U.S. IronWorks Attachments: 

 

Exhibit A: Cease & Desist Letter sent to US IronWorks 

Exhibit B: Certified letter confirmation 

Exhibit C: Map of IronWorks property 

Exhibit D: U.S. IronWorks Business License Application 

Exhibit E: Business Description from U.S. IronWorks 

Exhibit E: E-Mail complaints regarding activity at U.S. Iron Works 

Exhibit F: Business License Ordinance 

Exhibit G: Zoning Ordinance section on Light Industrial Zoning 







Town of Yemassee

Note:
Zoning Map of the area surrounding 76 Willis St
N.

Legend
Address Points - Beaufort
Parcels - Beaufort
Address Points - Hampton
Parcels - Hampton

Zoning

Road Names
Roads

Railroads
Beaufort County Boundary
Hampton County Boundary
Yemassee Boundary

12 Apr, 2021

This map is a user generated static output from rightspot.spateng.com website

and is for reference use only. Data layers that appear on this map

may or may not be accurate, current, or otherwise reliable.

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION









US IRON WORKS CO. 

Mailing address: PO Box 9220 Panama City, 
FL 32417                                      Over night address: 

328	Wahoo	road

Matthew	Garnes Panama	City,	FL	32408

Town	Clerk Date	:	Jan	20th	2021

P.O. Box 577
Yemassee, SC 29945 - 0577

Mr. Garnes:

US Ironworks Co is in the business of upgrading mill scrap generated from steel m
the mill scrap generated is screened in 3 groups A scrap is the 12inch + that is all u
Internally by the steel mill, the B scrap is 12 inch minus  is either used by the steel 
or other steel mills or brokers that sell to various steel mills, the balance is C scrap
size is 2 inch minus.

This is the material I get and up grade by screening off the 1/4 minus that is the ma
that is the non metallic removing this non metallic material raises the FE)
Ferrous units, when the material is received by our site we see a 65% FE percentag
After we do our process we raise the FE units to 85%+ that makes it a usable produ

We use the 1/4 inch minus to spread on the property to stablize the area, when I fin
getting my yard done we will offer it to the local public for 5.00 per ton which works
perfect for filling holes in drive ways or any area needing stablizing.

US Ironworks Co has yards in Birmingham, Ala - Chipley, Fla - Pelican, LA - Tampa
Fort Lauderdale, Fla and Yemassee, SC we are looking to open in the 2nd quarter o
a yard in Hickman, Ark.



Iron Works Company

Michael Weiss <mcweiss71@gmail.com>
Tue 1/19/2021 10:44

To:  Matthew Garnes <mattgarnes@townofyemassee.org>

1 attachments (36 KB)

Iron Works.jpg;

Good Morning Matt,

I now have grave concerns about the Iron Works Company located at 76 Willis St. N, Yemassee, SC.
29945. My concern is for the health of my family, and neighbors, as this company is illegally
conducting business here in Yemassee. My property is 300 feet away from the Iron Works Company
on 64 Cameron Dr.  I had mentioned via a phone call the noise level, and have provided you with
video documentation. Now there is a chemical smell blowing across my neighborhood while
operations are being conducted by Iron Works Company.

Our neighborhood consists of families with small children. Two families, with a total of 6 children,
live directly next to my house, and I am becoming increasingly concerned about the wellbeing of all
living on Cameron Dr. 

After reviewing the Yemassee zoning ordinance, I see the property that Iron Works Company is
zoned for Light Industrial. The ordinance does not allow for what this company is producing. There
is no doubt that the Iron Works Company is conducting business, as rock is being crushed, and I'm
witnessing semi-trucks hauling away the byproduct of the process. 

Could you please forward this email to the Mayor, Town Council, and any other entities within our
town governance that should be informed. Could you also CC me in the process? I would like as
much visibility on this as possible because now it's not just an issue of noise, but also an issue of
the safety, health, and overall well being of our neighborhood. I truly feel that the town of
Yemassee needs to work quickly to fix this issue, and believe that the Yemassee governance is
looking out for our safety. I had planned on addressing the town council at the next meeting, but
this cannot wait. 

Thanks Matt,

Michael Weiss
843-635-1274

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

1 of 1 4/12/2021, 1:40 PM



Temporary Sound Abatement - US Iron Works

Michael Weiss <mcweiss71@gmail.com>
Fri 1/22/2021 14:27

To:  Matthew Garnes <mattgarnes@townofyemassee.org>

1 attachments (1 MB)

IMG_0047.mov;

Hi Matt,

I just wanted to reach out to see if there is any progress towards a temporary solution for sound
abatement between my property and US Iron Works located at 76 Willis St. N. Yemassee, SC. 29945.
Based on our phone conversations, it doesn't seem like the Town of Yemassee is actively trying to
stop US Iron Works from conducting business until sound abatement is in place. 

You had asked for me to be patient, and I am trying to be, but the noise  produced by this
company is so excessive, and is directly impacting my family's quality of life. The smell of the
running tractors, and equipment has also been excessive. 

I have attached another video that was taken yesterday by my wife.  

I appreciate you sending me the public comment form, and will get it back to you for the next town
hall meeting in February.

Thank You,

Michael Weiss
843-635-1274

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

1 of 1 4/12/2021, 1:53 PM



Re: U.S. Iron Works 76 Willis St N, Town of Yemassee

Echols, Derell L. <echolsdl@dhec.sc.gov>
Tue 2/9/2021 11:35

To:  Matthew Garnes <mattgarnes@townofyemassee.org>
Cc:  Lori Mixson <lmixson@townofyemassee.org>; Gregory Alexander <galexander@yemassee.org>; Colin Moore
<cmoore@townofyemassee.org>

Thank you, Mr. Garnes.  

Below is the link for a business to use to determine if their opera on will need a DHEC permit/s. 
There's an interac ve tool to determine which DHEC permit/s is needed.

h ps://scdhec.gov/permits-regula ons/permit-central/applying-permit-license-cer fica on-or-
registra on-dhec

Applying for a Permit, License, Certification or Registration from
DHEC | SCDHEC
Sound, responsible public health and environmental decisions go hand-in-hand with strong,
successful businesses. If your new business or expansion could have an impact on public health
or the environment in South Carolina, chances are, you'll need a permit from DHEC.

scdhec.gov

Respec ully sent, 

Derell Echols
Environmental Health Manager
Lowcountry - Beaufort EA
S.C. Dept. of Health & Environmental Control
Office Main: (843) 846-1030
Direct Line: (843) 473-6195
Fax: (843) 846-0604
Connect: www.scdhec.gov Facebook Twitter

To report chemical spills, oil spills, or fish kills, call our toll-free 24-hour environmental response line at
1-888-481-0125 

This email is intended only for the use of the individual or en ty to which it is addressed and may contain
informa on which is privileged and confiden al. If the reader of this email is not the intended recipient, you
are hereby no fied that any disclosure, distribu on, or copying of this informa on is strictly prohibited. If
you received this email in error, please no fy the sender immediately by reply.

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

1 of 3 4/12/2021, 1:54 PM



From: Ma hew Garnes <ma garnes@townofyemassee.org>
Sent: Tuesday, February 9, 2021 9:25 AM
To: Echols, Derell L. <echolsdl@dhec.sc.gov>
Cc: Lori Mixson <lmixson@townofyemassee.org>; Gregory Alexander <galexander@yemassee.org>; Colin
Moore <cmoore@townofyemassee.org>
Subject: U.S. Iron Works 76 Willis St N, Town of Yemassee
 
*** Caution. This is an EXTERNAL email. DO NOT open attachments or click links from unknown senders or

unexpected email. ***

Attention! Effective January 13, 2021 we closed the Yemassee Municipal Complex for public access
until further notice due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Please visit our website at
https://www.townofyemassee.org/ for more information. Most in-person functions such as paying
traffic tickets and court fines, remitting Business License and Hospitality Tax payments, and even
applying for a Building Permit may all be completed on our website. Staff remain working in the
office and are available at 843.589.2565 Monday - Friday.
Good Morning Derell,

Attached is the information you requested this morning regarding the site operations at U.S. Iron
Works in the Town of Yemassee. Please keep us looped in on any assistance you or the EPA will
require or with any updates if/when penalties levied against the company.

Respectfully Submitted,
Matthew Garnes
Town Clerk
P.O. Box 577
Yemassee, SC 29945-0577
Office: (843) 589-2565
Fax: (843) 589-4305
The Focal Point of the Four Counties

Disclaimer from Town of Yemassee: This email message (including all attachments) is intended only for the person or

entity to which it is addressed. It may contain confidential and/or privileged information and material that may be

protected by HIPAA, the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, and other federal and state confidentiality laws.

Communications sent to or from the Town of Yemassee are subject to the SC Freedom of Information Act. Any review,

retransmission, dissemination, or other use of, or taking of any action in reliance upon this information by persons or

entities other than the intended recipient is strictly prohibited and punishable to the fullest extent of the law. If you are

not the intended recipient, please contact the sender by return email and destroy all copies of the original message. 

Disclaimer from Town of Yemassee: This email message (including all attachments) is intended only for the person or entity to which it is
addressed. It may contain confidential and/or privileged information and material that may be protected by HIPAA, the Electronic

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

2 of 3 4/12/2021, 1:54 PM



Communications Privacy Act, and other federal and state confidentiality laws. Communications sent to or from the Town of Yemassee are
subject to the SC Freedom of Information Act. Any review, retransmission, dissemination, or other use of, or taking of any action in reliance
upon this information by persons or entities other than the intended recipient is strictly prohibited and punishable to the fullest extent of the
law. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender by return email and destroy all copies of the original message.
Disclaimer from Town of Yemassee: This email message (including all attachments) is intended only for the person or entity to which it is
addressed. It may contain confidential and/or privileged information and material that may be protected by HIPAA, the Electronic
Communications Privacy Act, and other federal and state confidentiality laws. Communications sent to or from the Town of Yemassee are
subject to the SC Freedom of Information Act. Any review, retransmission, dissemination, or other use of, or taking of any action in reliance
upon this information by persons or entities other than the intended recipient is strictly prohibited and punishable to the fullest extent of the
law. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender by return email and destroy all copies of the original message.

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

3 of 3 4/12/2021, 1:54 PM



FW: Cameron Drive Video

Michelle Hagan <mhagan@townofyemassee.org>
Wed 2/17/2021 17:56

To:  Matthew Garnes <mattgarnes@townofyemassee.org>; Peggy O'Banner O'Banner <obanner31@gmail.com>; Alfred
Washington <awashington700@gmail.com>; Colin Moore <cmoore@townofyemassee.org>; Charlie Simmons
<csimmons@townofyemassee.org>
Cc:  Gregory Alexander <galexander@yemasseepd.com>

5 attachments (20 MB)

feb-17-76willis-dust.mp4; feb-17-76willis.mp4; 20210212_143510.jpg; 20210217_150003.jpg; 20210217_150803.jpg;

I'm sorry but this really needs to be looked into. It appears they have a very good argument/case. 
Plz let's all look into and talk about this. 

Michelle Berry Hagan 

-------- Original message --------
From: Ryan P <rpaiva119@gmail.com>
Date: 2/17/21 4:38 PM (GMT-05:00)
To: Michael Weiss <mcweiss71@gmail.com>
Cc: Michelle Hagan <mhagan@townofyemassee.org>
Subject: Re: Cameron Drive Video

Hi Michelle,

I hope all is well and thank you again for your concern in our situation. I've attached a new video
along with photo evidence of our DB meter of the sound exceeding 60db, and an air quality test
showing elevated VOC levels not present in a third photo taken when the business was not
operating. These were taken from Mr. Weiss's back yard just this afternoon.

The heavy machinery started today while I was working on growing our food in our backyard and I
had to come inside twice to blow my nose and my throat became irritated. I have attached a video
taken today of the loader dumping the mill scrap waste, and we can smell/taste that waste dust in
our air. In addition to irritants, this dust is known to OSHA to likely contain lead and mercury. I'm
back in my house now and the heavy machinery is vibrating my home office and I can hear them as
I type this to you. I cannot escape them.

The Zoning Ordinances being violated by them include sections 4.2, 5.8.1, 5.8.2, 5.8.3, 5.8.4, 5.8.5,
and 5.8.6, Town Code sections 10.103.a, 14.709.a-b, 14.709.b.18, 14.817.b, 20.3.J, and 20.3.K, and
DSOR Section 4.20.E, F, and J. 

My neighbors and I have been denied reasonable use of our homes due to this nuisance for more
than 30 days now, all the while Mr. Garnes has been fully aware of the situation. We are hoping that

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

1 of 3 4/12/2021, 1:55 PM



this is sufficient evidence to compel the town to enforce these laws today. If anything else is
needed, please let me know.

Thank you again,
-Ryan & Hala

On Tue, Feb 16, 2021 at 9:52 AM Michael Weiss <mcweiss71@gmail.com> wrote:
Hi Michelle!

I just wanted to say thank you for taking a deeper look at our situation. It would be an
understatement to say that we need help with this. I hope this video, and public comments that
were provided at the last meeting helps shed some light on US Iron Works taking advantage of
our small community. I had been communicating with Matt Garnes since early January about our
concerns, and cannot understand how this is legal in any sense of the word. I also cannot
comprehend why Matt has not forwarded our concerns to the town council. His demeanor, facts
about the case, and lack of communication during the public meetings about this subject is quite
different from his communication with me when I call. 

I know Ryan has provided you with many details of what is happening and know that you must
do your due diligence to get to the bottom of this issue. Regardless of Matt's Garnes
interpretation of the ordinances, I do not feel he has the authority to bend, or make up the rules.
At the end of the day, the ordinance states clear rules about sound and smell beyond the
property line of a light industrial zoned property. There is no shortage of videos that we could
provide to you proving just the sound issue alone.

THANK YOU so much Michelle,

Michael Weiss
843-635-1274

On Mon, Feb 15, 2021 at 9:10 PM Ryan P <rpaiva119@gmail.com> wrote:
Hi Michelle,

Thank you again for our call today. I have my neighbor Mike cc'd, and I've attached a video
taken from his back yard just this afternoon. It's been like this almost every day since mid
January and we have about 70 more videos. 

I also re-read the zoning ordinance again today and I'm confident that none of what they're
doing is permitted in the light industrial zoning district, in addition to the code and zoning
violations that are happening daily even if their primary operations were permitted. 

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

2 of 3 4/12/2021, 1:55 PM



Any help would be greatly appreciated from all of us. We are struggling to understand why the
law is not being enforced.

Thank you!
-Ryan & Hala

Disclaimer from Town of Yemassee: This email message (including all attachments) is intended only for the person or entity to which it is
addressed. It may contain confidential and/or privileged information and material that may be protected by HIPAA, the Electronic
Communications Privacy Act, and other federal and state confidentiality laws. Communications sent to or from the Town of Yemassee are
subject to the SC Freedom of Information Act. Any review, retransmission, dissemination, or other use of, or taking of any action in reliance
upon this information by persons or entities other than the intended recipient is strictly prohibited and punishable to the fullest extent of the
law. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender by return email and destroy all copies of the original message.

Disclaimer from Town of Yemassee: This email message (including all attachments) is intended only for the person or entity to which it is
addressed. It may contain confidential and/or privileged information and material that may be protected by HIPAA, the Electronic
Communications Privacy Act, and other federal and state confidentiality laws. Communications sent to or from the Town of Yemassee are
subject to the SC Freedom of Information Act. Any review, retransmission, dissemination, or other use of, or taking of any action in reliance
upon this information by persons or entities other than the intended recipient is strictly prohibited and punishable to the fullest extent of the
law. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender by return email and destroy all copies of the original message.

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

3 of 3 4/12/2021, 1:55 PM



Thank You

Michael Weiss <mcweiss71@gmail.com>
Wed 3/10/2021 08:37

To:  Matthew Garnes <mattgarnes@townofyemassee.org>

Good Morning Matt,

I about came out of my seat with joy yesterday evening when witnessing the news about US Iron
Works. This is a wonderful first step in protecting our residents. I appreciate your due diligence in this
matter.

Take Care and Thank You,

Michael Weiss

Sent from my IPhone
Disclaimer from Town of Yemassee: This email message (including all attachments) is intended only
for the person or entity to which it is addressed. It may contain confidential and/or privileged
information and material that may be protected by HIPAA, the Electronic Communications Privacy
Act, and other federal and state confidentiality laws. Communications sent to or from the Town of
Yemassee are subject to the SC Freedom of Information Act. Any review, retransmission,
dissemination, or other use of, or taking of any action in reliance upon this information by persons or
entities other than the intended recipient is strictly prohibited and punishable to the fullest extent of
the law. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender by return email and destroy
all copies of the original message.

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

1 of 1 4/12/2021, 1:58 PM



Fwd: US Iron Works Running Equipment

Michael Weiss <mcweiss71@gmail.com>
Wed 3/24/2021 22:04

To:  Matthew Garnes <mattgarnes@townofyemassee.org>

Hi Matt,

Here are the links to the same videos. I put them in YouTube if you cannot access them through
Google Drive.

https://youtu.be/khRjZrPHznI
https://youtu.be/XkDJzzJI_HQ

Thank You,

Michael Weiss

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Michael Weiss <mcweiss71@gmail.com>
Date: Wed, Mar 24, 2021 at 9:50 PM
Subject: US Iron Works Running Equipment
To: Matthew Garnes <mattgarnes@townofyemassee.org>

Hi Matt,

I just wanted to share a video with you once again. I had called the police this evening because US
Iron Works was still running the tractor this evening at approximately 5:20pm
There was a riding lawn mower running back and forth as well, but was not the reason why I called
to file a noise complaint.

The second video is what I am taking as a threat from the individual living and working on this
property. He was yelling things towards our yard and revving the engine of a motorcycle or ATV. I
had filed an official complaint to Yemassee Police separate to the original noise complaint. I would
be curious to know if the owner of US Iron Works knows that his employees are doing these things
to local neighbors.

Take Care and Thank You,

Michael Weiss
843-635-1274

TractorRunning1Mar24.mp4

ThreatMAR24.mp4

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

1 of 2 4/12/2021, 1:58 PM



Disclaimer from Town of Yemassee: This email message (including all attachments) is intended only for the person or entity to which it is
addressed. It may contain confidential and/or privileged information and material that may be protected by HIPAA, the Electronic
Communications Privacy Act, and other federal and state confidentiality laws. Communications sent to or from the Town of Yemassee are
subject to the SC Freedom of Information Act. Any review, retransmission, dissemination, or other use of, or taking of any action in reliance
upon this information by persons or entities other than the intended recipient is strictly prohibited and punishable to the fullest extent of the
law. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender by return email and destroy all copies of the original message.

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

2 of 2 4/12/2021, 1:58 PM



Saturday Morning - US Iron Works

Michael Weiss <mcweiss71@gmail.com>
Sat 3/27/2021 11:09

To:  Matthew Garnes <mattgarnes@townofyemassee.org>

Hello Matthew,

I understand that US Iron Works has been given the green light to use their heavy equipment to
clean up the leased properties. While I support cleaning up the garbage, I cannot understand why
this is allowed to happen on Saturday in the early morning. I called Hampton County dispatch to
file a noise complaint. An officer from Yemassee PD came to tell me there is nothing that can be
done, and once again, the citizens have no recourse. Our quality of life has once again been
degraded in our own home.

My other concern is this employee of US Iron Works has followed through with one of the threats
that had been yelled in our direction (from the video that I had sent you last week). "How do you
like me know, I can do this on Saturday and Sunday and there is nothing you can do about it".
Once again we have a finable infraction of our town ordinances. I would appreciate a fine issued to
US Iron Works for running heavy equipment early on Saturday morning on March 27th. US Iron
Works may not be conducting normal business operations, but from what I understand of the
situation, they have been mandated to clean up the property, and would be considered operations
of a business. 

I would appreciate any correspondence about what will be done about this situation.

Thank You,

Michael Weiss
IMG_0227.MOV

Disclaimer from Town of Yemassee: This email message (including all attachments) is intended only for the person or entity to which it is
addressed. It may contain confidential and/or privileged information and material that may be protected by HIPAA, the Electronic
Communications Privacy Act, and other federal and state confidentiality laws. Communications sent to or from the Town of Yemassee are
subject to the SC Freedom of Information Act. Any review, retransmission, dissemination, or other use of, or taking of any action in reliance
upon this information by persons or entities other than the intended recipient is strictly prohibited and punishable to the fullest extent of the
law. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender by return email and destroy all copies of the original message.

Firefox https://outlook.office.com/mail/search/id/AAQkADVlMmRhZWY4LT...

1 of 1 4/12/2021, 1:58 PM



















Town of Yemassee
Zoning Ordinance, Revised 3/9/2007

Page 29

minimum height of thirty (30) inches within three (3) years 
of planting.  All shrubs shall be a minimum of eighteen (18) 
inches when planted.  Vegetation planted on berms may 
have a reduced minimum mature height provided that the 
combined height of the berm and the plantings shall be a 
minimum height of thirty (30) inches in height after three (3) 
years.  Twenty-five (25) percent of all shrubs may be 
deciduous.

5.7.5 Uses Not Permitted in the Mixed Use District

A. Any convenience or other high volume commercial business.

B. Motels and hotels.

C. Any business involving junk, salvage operations, the open 
storage of junk and salvage materials, construction vehicles, or 
more than two (2) trucks maintained on the premises.

D. Any business that constitutes a nuisance.

E. Drive-in and drive-thru facilities.
 

F. Self-service Laundromat or dry cleaning store.

G. Package liquor store.

H. Adult Entertainment Establishments.

I. Any business, person, entity or service offering Adult 
Entertainment.

Section 5.8 Light Industrial District [LID] 

5.8.1 The purpose of this District is to provide a suitable environment for 
and enhancing the locational flexibility of uses generally classified 
as research and development, assembly, high technology 
production, precision manufacturing, and light industry by 
excluding heavy manufacturing and permitting only those cleaner 
industries and operations which tend to be less objectionable to the 
community; and by requiring high performance standards and 



Town of Yemassee
Zoning Ordinance, Revised 3/9/2007

Page 30

tolerating minimal creation of air and water pollution, hazardous 
waste, and other off-site nuisances.  

5.8.2 The following uses shall be permitted in any LID provided that 
none of the uses or operations specified in Section 5.8.4, Prohibited
Uses and Operations, is conducted on the premises either as 
independent operations or as part of the primary permitted 
activity.  Similar uses shall be considered for inclusion. 

A. All permitted and conditional uses in the Regional Commercial 
District subject to the same conditions apply in the District;

B. Warehouse, wholesale, or distribution operation;

C. Workshop for building trades other than carpentry;

D. Photocopying, typesetting, or stripping operation; bindery;

E. Handicrafts workshop or fine arts studio; and

F. Manufacturing, production, processing, assembly, fabrication, 
packaging, storage, and distribution of the following materials 
and products plus customarily associated operations:

1. Computers, computer components, and computer 
accessories including, but not limited to:  printed circuit 
boards, semiconductors, terminals, printers, storage devises, 
peripheral equipment, and software;

2. Electrical and electronic components and systems for office 
and consumer use including, but not limited to: audio and 
video equipment, television sets, radios, telephones, 
telegraphs, and calculating machines;

3. Small office supplies and machines suitable for sale in 
stationery store; household cooking equipment;

4. Lighting fixtures, fans, lamp bulbs, and tubes;

5. Cameras and other photographic equipment excluding film 
and chemicals; 

 



Town of Yemassee
Zoning Ordinance, Revised 3/9/2007

Page 31

6. Watches, clocks, meters, scales, and other counting and 
timing devices;

 
7. Medical, surgical, and dental instruments; optical and 

ophthalmic instruments, lenses, and eyeglasses; orthopedic 
and prosthetic appliances;

 
8. Precision instruments and gauges used for measuring, 

testing, control, display, and analysis; precision instruments 
used for communications, search, detection, navigation, and 
guidance;

9. Magnetic and optical recording media, audio/video tapes 
and disks;

10. Electronic capacitors, coils, connectors, and resistors for 
small office and consumer products; electron tubes;   

11. Materials for fiber optic process;

12. Sporting and athletic goods; musical instruments; hand-held 
tools; lawn and garden equipment;

13. Hand held firearms excluding ammunition; 
 

14. Lightweight metal or plastic furniture; drafting equipment, 
writing, drawing, and marking implements; 

15. Vending machines; signs and advertising specialties;

16. Brooms, brushes, and combs; fasteners, buttons, needles, and 
pins; 

 
17. Games, toys, dolls, figurines, and stuffed animals; small 

curios, novelty items, and tourist souvenirs; 
 

18. Needlework and textile manufacture or assembly; and 
 

19. Trade shop or tool and die shop. 
 

5.8.3 The following uses shall be permitted in on a conditional basis in 
the LID, provided that none of the uses or operations specified in 
Section 5.8.4, Prohibited Uses and Operations, are conducted on the 



Town of Yemassee
Zoning Ordinance, Revised 3/9/2007

Page 32

premises either as independent operations or as part of the primary 
permitted activity.

A. Laboratory for research, development, experimentation, or 
testing; or biotechnology operation provided there is no activity 
exceeding Bio-safety Level II and no use of recombinant DNA; 

 
B. Textile, fabric, or apparel operation specifically including 

woven fabric mill, knitting mill, yarn and thread mill, and cut 
and sew operation provided none of the following occurs on the 
premises: production of synthetic fibers; printing, dying, 
bleaching, finishing, or waterproofing of materials; water-jet 
weaving; pulling or scouring of wool; leather tanning or curing 
of hides;

 
C. Carpentry workshop or cabinet making/wood furniture 

operation provided there is no chemical treatment of wood by 
immersion or pressure application, or sawing or planking of 
raw-lumber and provided the operation does not exceed twenty 
thousand (20,000) square feet.  

D. Printing, lithography, and gravure provided that the operation 
does not exceed twenty thousand (20,000) gross square feet.  If 
only water-soluble inks or photocopying processes are used, 
there is no size limitation;

E. Bulk storage of petroleum or other flammable, volatile, or 
hazardous materials provided they are used for operations on 
the premises rather than for distribution; and provided the 
storage arrangement complies with Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration and National Fire Protection Association 
Standards;

F. Cold storage plant provided there is no processing of food other 
than seafood and shellfish;

G. Light assembly or fabrication of any product not listed in Section 
5.8.2, Permitted Uses, or in Section 5.8.3, Conditional Uses, 
provided only finished, previously prepared materials are used 
including, but not limited to:  metal, plastic, rubber, ceramic, 
glass, wood, fabric, leather, canvas, fur, paper, or paperboard; 
provided production is carried out primarily with hand 



Town of Yemassee
Zoning Ordinance, Revised 3/9/2007

Page 33

operations or light-duty machines/tool room-type equipment; 
provided only simple machining, cutting, reshaping, and 
fastening processes are involved; provided no chemicals, dyes, 
solutions, or other applicants are used in the production process 
with the exception of paints and finishes applied with a small 
brush or jet, cleansers, lubricants, solders, and glues;

H. Campgrounds and Recreational Vehicle Parks provided that:  

1. No site or structure shall be continuously occupied for more 
than fourteen (14) days.  Any tent, camper, or recreational 
vehicle shall be physically removed on or before the 
expiration of fourteen (14) days;

2. No overflow camping shall be allowed.  When a 
campground/RV park is full, no more campers or vehicles 
shall be permitted on the grounds;

3. The campground shall have a minimum size of twenty (20) 
acres and shall not exceed fifty (50) acres on any single 
parcel;

4. All permanent structures including cabins in a campground 
shall be limited to single-story structures in height; 

5. No more than eight (8) campsites/RV sites or camping 
structures including cabins shall be permitted per net acre in 
any campground;

6. Not less than thirty (30) percent of all campgrounds/RV 
Parks shall consist of open space which shall contain no 
camp/RV sites and/or structures; 

 
7. All campgrounds and recreational vehicle parks in the Town 

of Yemassee shall be in compliance with the Rules and 
Regulations Governing Camps of the South Carolina Department 
of Health and Environmental Control and have a valid permit 
from same for operation; and 

 
8. All campground facilities shall be served by public water 

and sewer.  
 
 



Town of Yemassee
Zoning Ordinance, Revised 3/9/2007

Page 34

5.8.4 Prohibited Uses and Operations:  The uses, operations, processes, 
facilities, and equipment specified below shall not be permitted in 
any Light Industrial District either as independent operations or as 
part of the primary permitted activity.

 
A. Production for sale as end product or as major component of an 

end product of chemicals, abrasives, acetylene, acids, asbestos, 
bleaches, carbon black, caustics, celluloid, chalk, cleaning 
compounds, dyes, inks, linoleum, oilcloth, paints, polishes, 
pyroxylin, soda or soda compounds, synthetic resins, 
turpentine, varnish, or other substances considered by the 
USEPA to be toxic;

B. Production of primary commodities from raw materials, 
specifically including:  metals, plastic, rubber, and paper;

C. Primary metal operations including, but not limited to:  
smelting, refining, rolling, drawing, founding, forging, die 
casting, and extrusion;

D. Manufacture of concrete, cement, brick plaster, gypsum, lime, 
mortar, asphalt, tar, or other paving or plastering materials;

E. Cyanide plating, blast furnace, boiler works, coke oven, punch 
press over twenty (20) tons rated capacity, drop hammer; 
distillation of coal, tar, or wood; combustion of coal or high 
sulfur oil; 

F. Production of food for distribution (excluding seafood, shellfish, 
restaurant preparation and bakery serving local community);

G. The storage, utilization, or manufacture of materials or products 
which decompose by detonation including, but not limited to:  
primary and high explosives; blasting explosives such as 
dynamite and nitroglycerine; propellants such as nitrocellulose; 
pyrotechnics and fireworks; unstable compounds such as 
acetylides, tetrazoles, perchloric acid, nuclear fuels, and 
fissionable materials;

 
H. Any activity which generates radioactive waste with the 

exception of waste used or created from medical treatments by 
physicians or veterinarians.  Radioactive waste created from 
medical treatment must be disposed of in accordance with 



Town of Yemassee
Zoning Ordinance, Revised 3/9/2007

Page 35

South Carolina State Law, Federal Law and reasonable medical 
standards;

I. Sanitary landfill and/or on-site storage of waste materials 
beyond ninety (90) days; and

J. Mining or extraction of minerals, metals, ores, rock, sand, 
gravel, coal, oil, or gas. 

K.   Adult Entertainment Establishments.

L.    Any business, person, entity or service offering Adult 
Entertainment.

5.8.5 General Requirements.

A. Minimum lot size is twenty-five (25) acres.

B. No industrial building or operation in this District shall be 
situated closer than one hundred (100) feet from the boundary 
line of any property in an existing residential zoning district or 
in current residential use (with the exception of a property used 
as the caretaker’s residence).

C. Industrial uses shall be setback a minimum of fifty (50) feet 
from any commercial use; one hundred (100) feet from a major 
thoroughfare; and fifty (50) feet from another industrial use.

D. Building height shall not exceed thirty-five (35) feet above base 
flood elevation to a maximum of fifty (50) feet above base flood 
elevation with prior approval from the Fire Marshal’s office. 

E. Maximum building size is two hundred thousand (200,000) 
square feet per use.

5.8.6 Other Requirements.

A. All manufacturing, processing, assembly, fabrication, servicing, 
and repair operations must be carried out within an entirely 
enclosed building.



Town of Yemassee
Zoning Ordinance, Revised 3/9/2007

Page 36

B. All materials, merchandise, and waste/salvage, with the 
exception of automobiles and other motor vehicles displayed for 
sale, must be stored within enclosed buildings or completely 
screened from adjacent properties and public and private 
roadways by opaque walls, fences, trees and/or shrubbery.

C. The generation of noise, light/glare, vibration, smoke, gas, odor, 
dust, dirt, heat or cold, electromagnetic radiation, radioactivity, 
fire/explosive hazard, condition conductive to the propagation
of rodents or insects, or any other potentially injurious or 
obnoxious condition must not be sufficient to create a nuisance 
beyond the property boundaries.

D. Stormwater management shall follow the requirements of the 
Beaufort and/or Hampton County Stormwater Management, Best 
Management Practices in use at the time of development.  There 
shall also be no discharge into any public or private stream, 
waterway, body of water, septic or sewage disposal system, or 
into the ground or air of any liquid, solid, or gaseous materials 
except in accordance with applicable law.

E. All activities must be in conformance with the following state 
and federal acts, regulations and standards, as amended:  Clean 
Air Act, Clean Water Act, Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 
Federal Water Pollution Control Act, Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration General Industry and Construction Standards, South 
Carolina Pollution Control Act, and South Carolina Stream 
Standards; regulations promulgated by the Environmental 
Protection Agency, Department of Health and Environmental 
Control, and Centers for Disease Control; all other applicable 
local, state, and federal laws and guidance’s.



Town of Yemassee
Zoning Ordinance, Revised 3/9/2007

Page 37

Section 5.9 Planned Unit Development [PUD]

5.9.1 The purpose of the PUD District is to encourage flexibility in land 
planning that will result in improved design, character, and quality 
of new homogenous and mixed use developments; to promote the 
most appropriate use of land; to facilitate the provision of streets and 
utilities; and to preserve the natural and scenic features and open 
space.

5.9.2 General Requirements

A. All property that is at least four (4) contiguous acres (rounded 
up to the nearest one tenth) shall be eligible for the PUD District 
regulation.

B. Properties consisting of less than two hundred (200) acres shall 
not be required to submit a Concept Plan and shall begin the 
review process with an application and Master Plan.  It is 
recommended, however, for projects less than two hundred 
(200) acres that are unusually complex or sensitive to submit a 
Concept Plan to avoid undue delays in the review process.  
Applicants under two hundred (200) acres will be granted PUD 
zoning only after acceptance of the Master Plan by Town 
Council. 

C. The Town of Yemassee Town Council, at its discretion, may 
waive the acreage requirement of Section 5.9.2 (A) and grant 
PUD zoning to property having a valid PUD designation from 
Hampton or Beaufort County.  In such instances, the Town PUD 
designation shall incorporate the zoning regulations and term, if 
any, as approved by Beaufort or Hampton Counties; provided 
however, nothing herein shall be construed to preclude the 
Town Council from changing or adding regulations to any such 
PUD when, in its sole discretion, it deems such to be necessary 
and in furtherance of the public interest. To the extent there is 
any conflict between the regulations imposed by the County 
and those imposed by the Town, the regulations imposed by the 
Town shall prevail. All property zoned PUD shall be under 
single ownership, or if in multiple ownership, then by written 
consent of all owners who agree to be bound by the District 
designation and regulations. 



Yemassee Municipal Complex 
101 Town Cir     P.O. Box 577 Yemassee, SC 29945-0577 

Telephone (843) 589-2565   Fax (843) 589-4305 
www.townofyemassee.org 

Colin J Moore Council Members 
Mayor Michelle Hagan 
Peggy Bing-O’Banner Charlie Simmons 
Mayor Pro Tempore Alfred Washington 

Matthew Garnes 
Town Clerk 

Town Council Agenda Item 

Subject: Proclamation declaring April 2021 as “Fair Housing Month” in the Town 
of Yemassee 

Department: Administration 

Attachments:  

____ Ordinance _____ Resolution ______ Motion 

__X__ Support Documents  _______ Other 

Summary: By Town Ordinance, each April shall be designated as Fair Housing 
Month in the Town of Yemassee. Each year a Proclamation should be issued to 
remain eligible for grant funding for programs such as CDBG from the South 
Carolina Department of Commerce. 

Recommended Action: Adopt Proclamation 

Council Action: 
____ Approved as Recommended 
____ Approved with Modifications 
____ Disapproved 
____ Tabled to Time Certain 
____ Other 



 

Town of Yemassee 

Fair Housing Month Proclamation 

WHEREAS, April 11, 2021 marks the 53rd anniversary of the passage of the Fair Housing 
Act, which established a national policy of fair housing for all who live in the United 
States, and 

WHEREAS, The Fair Housing Act prohibits discrimination based on race, color, religion, 
sex handicap, familial status and national origin, and 

WHEREAS, The Mayor and Town Council wish to affirm their commitment to Fair 
Housing in the Town of Yemassee, and 

NOW THEREFORE, I Colin J. Moore, Mayor of Yemassee along with the Yemassee 
Town Council do hereby proclaim the month of April 2021 as “Fair Housing Month” in 
the Town of Yemassee to establish Yemassee as an inclusive community committed to 
fair housing for all residents and prospective residents of Yemassee. 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

Colin J. Moore, Mayor 

 

(Seal) 



   
 
 

 
Yemassee Municipal Complex 

101 Town Cir     P.O. Box 577 Yemassee, SC 29945-0577 
Telephone (843) 589-2565   Fax (843) 589-4305 

www.townofyemassee.org 

Colin J Moore  Council Members 
Mayor  Michelle Hagan 
Peggy Bing-O’Banner  Charlie Simmons 
Mayor Pro Tempore  Alfred Washington 

Matthew Garnes   
Town Clerk   

 
Town Council Agenda Item 

 
Subject: Annexation Ordinance 21-07, Consideration of a Request for an 
Ordinance Approving Annexation of Approximately 4.50 acres of Land, located 
at 225 Bailey Road, Seabrook, Beaufort County, into the Town of Yemassee. 
 
Department: Administration 
 
Attachments:  
 
_X__ Ordinance _____ Resolution ______ Motion 
 
__X__ Support Documents                    _______ Other 
 

Summary: The Town has received a 100% Annexation Petition from the property 
owner, seeking annexation of 4.50 ac into the Town of Yemassee corporate 
limits. The parcel is contiguous to the current Town Limits via Tomotley Plantation. 
The property is undeveloped and seeking Zoning of General Residential. 
 
Recommended Action: Town Council approve 2nd and Final Reading of 
Annexation Ordinance 21-07. 
 
 
Council Action: 
____ Approved as Recommended 
____ Approved with Modifications 
____ Disapproved 
____ Tabled to Time Certain 
____ Other 
 
 



Staff Report to Town Council 
Administration 

Staff Report to Town Council on proposed Annexation of 225 Bailey Rd, 
Seabrook, Beaufort County TMS: R700 019 000 0064 0000 / Case# ANNX-02-21-1010 

  
March 23, 2021 

Project: 225 Bailey Road, Seabrook. 

Case Number: ANNX-02-21-1010 

1. Subject 

Annexation: The applicant(s), Darrell & Wanda Johnson, have petitioned to the Town of Yemassee to 
annex one parcel of real property, located in Beaufort County at 225 Bailey Road into the Town Limits 
of Yemassee. 

Tax Map Number: R700 019 000 0064 0000 

Acreage: 4.50 

Current Zoning: T2R Rural (Beaufort County Community Development Code) 

Current Use: Undeveloped property 

T2R Future Land Use: (per Beaufort County Community Development Code) “The Rural (T2R) Zone 
is intended to preserve the rural character of Beaufort County. This Zone applies to areas that consist 
of sparsely settled lands in an open or cultivated state. It may include large lot residential, farms where 
animals are raised or crops are grown, parks, woodland, grasslands, trails, and open space areas. The 
T2 Rural Zone implements the Comprehensive Plan goals of preserving the rural character of portions 
of Beaufort County.” 

Proposed Zoning: General Residential (Town of Yemassee) 

Contiguity: The parcel petitioning for annexation is contiguous to the primary service area via 
Tomotley Plantation, which was annexed in February 2021. The parcels proposing to be annexed are 
on the west side of US-17 and just south of the Huspah Creek. 

Adjacent Land Use/Zoning: The parcel is adjacent to the following properties and jurisdictions, 

Direction Parcel Owner Jurisdiction 
North R700 019 000 0063 0000 

221 Bailey Rd 
Dorothy Williamson Beaufort County 

South R700 019 000 062A 0000 
199 Bailey Rd 

Brad Dralle Beaufort County 

East R700 019 000 0289 0000 
202 Bailey Rd 

Butch Polk Beaufort County 

West R700 013 000 0001 0000 
300 Cotton Hall Rd 

The Tomotley Crew, LLC. Town of Yemassee 

  



Staff Report to Town Council 
Administration 

Staff Report to Town Council on proposed Annexation of 225 Bailey Rd, 
Seabrook, Beaufort County TMS: R700 019 000 0064 0000 / Case# ANNX-02-21-1010 

 

1. Staff Comments 

The applicant proposes to annex the single parcel into the Town limits. The property is undeveloped 
with no immediate plans for placement of a mobile home or new home construction. The parcel is 
served by Dominion Energy for electric and Natural gas. Telecommunications is provided by Century 
Link for telephone and TV. It is unclear if there is internet service available by a non-satellite provider. 
The property is outside of the service district of Lowcountry Regional Water System, the franchised 
provider for the Town of Yemassee. Beaufort-Jasper Water Sewer Authority does not water or 
wastewater service currently along the 17 corridors. The closest service for BJWSA is in the Point 
South area and the next closest in the Dale area on Trask Pkwy. Any new construction on the lot would 
require a well and septic tank. 

Special Notes  

The Town of Yemassee will be able to furnish all town services upon annexation.  

The parcel would be subject to the adopted millage rate at the time of annexation, the adopted millage 
rate within the Beaufort County portion of the Town of Yemassee, is 66.60 mills. The property owner 
has been provided with an estimate of their tax liability assuming the placement of one single family 
residence. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Staff Report to Town Council 
Administration 

Staff Report to Town Council on proposed Annexation of 225 Bailey Rd, 
Seabrook, Beaufort County TMS: R700 019 000 0064 0000 / Case# ANNX-02-21-1010 

 

3. Maps 

 
*Parcel proposed for annexation shaded in purple. 

 

4. Analysis 

The following analysis has been conducted on the parcel petitioning for Annexation. 

 

1.) The application is in the best interests of the Town of Yemassee and its residents. 
a. Finding:  Any vehicles or personal/business property taxed by Beaufort County will be 

subject to the city tax rate imposed for FY2020 which is 66.60mils. Additionally, the 
property will close a donut hole which will allow for the more efficient delivery of services in 
the Sheldon area of Yemassee while giving residents access to municipal services. 

2.)  The property has contiguity to the Town of Yemassee corporate limits 
a. Finding: The property is contiguous to the Town of Yemassee corporate limits on one side 

of the property and is established by one connecting parcel. The adjacent parcel was 
annexed into the Town in 2021 with the Cotton Hall / Tomotley Annexation via the 100% 
Petition & Ordinance method. 

3.)   Does the Annexation avoid creating new doughnut holes or enclaves in the Town Limits? 



Staff Report to Town Council 
Administration 

Staff Report to Town Council on proposed Annexation of 225 Bailey Rd, 
Seabrook, Beaufort County TMS: R700 019 000 0064 0000 / Case# ANNX-02-21-1010 

a. Finding: The proposed Annexation will not create any new doughnut holes or enclaves in 
the Town of Yemassee corporate limits. 

4.)  The Annexation will not create a tax burden or measurably reduce the level of service(s) 
provided to existing citizens and property owners. 

a. Finding: Based on the current use of the property along, a tax burden is not created and a 
reduction in the level of service is not anticipated. 

5.) Consideration of the Annexation areas existing utilities, transportation, and infrastructure. 
a. Finding: With no change of use permitted and the properties being protected under 

conservation easement, there will be no impact on the existing infrastructure. The current 
franchised electric provider is Dominion Energy. Both plantations are outside the service 
area of the franchised water and wastewater provider for the Town of Yemassee, 
Lowcountry Regional Water System as well as outside the service area of Beaufort-Jasper 
Water & Sewer Authority. Due to its remote location, it is highly improbably that there 
would ever be water and wastewater services in that area. 

6.)  The full impact the Annexation will have on Law Enforcement has been considered. 
a. Finding: Chief Alexander has advised this parcel will not have a negative impact on the 

services provided by the Yemassee Police Department. Upon annexation, the primary 
response agency will be the Yemassee Police Department, with backup provided via a 
Mutual-Aid agreement with the Beaufort County Sheriff’s Office. The Yemassee Police 
Department would have jurisdiction on all public rights-of-way surrounding the property 
including the area in front of this parcel on Bailey Road. 

7.)  Does the petitioner understand all potential/costs & benefits associated with Annexation? 
a. Finding: The applicant has been provided with an estimated tax bill upon Annexation. As 

of this report, there have been no additional questions from the petitioner regarding the 
estimated tax bill.  

8.) Staff Recommendation  
a. Recommendation – Staff believe this Annexation would benefit the Town and enrich the 

community by adding two historical plantations into the Town limits. 
9.) Attachments 

a. Annexation Ordinance 
i. Annexation Petition 
ii. Map of area proposed to be annexed. 

b. Annexation Petition 
c. Flood Zone Map 

 



 STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA    ) 

  ) 
) 
) 

COUNTY OF BEAUFORT 
TOWN OF YEMASSEE

ORDINANCE NUMBER: 
(21-07) 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING INTO THE TOWN OF YEMASSEE, ONE PARCEL 
OF LAND TOTALLING 4.50 ACRES, LOCATED AT 225 BAILEY ROAD, OWNED 
BY DARRELL & WANDA JOHNSON, IN BEAUFORT COUNTY, NOT ALREADY 
WITHIN THE YEMASSEE TOWN LIMITS AND INCLUDING ALL ADJACENT 
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY, RAILROAD RIGHTS OF WAY, WATERS, 
LOWLANDS AND WETLANDS. 

Section 1.              Findings of Facts 

As an incident to the adoption of this ordinance, Town Council of Yemassee finds the following 
facts to exist: 

a) Section 5-3-150, Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976) as amended, provides a method 
of annexing property to a city or town by a Petition signed by all persons owning real 
estate in the area requesting annexation.

b) A proper Petition has been filed with Town of Yemassee by one hundred percent (100%) 
of the freeholders owning one hundred percent (100%) of the assessed value of the 
contiguous property herein described, petitioning for annexation of the property to the 
Town of Yemassee under the provisions of South Carolina Section 5-3-150(3) and is 
requesting the Town's zoning of General Residential and have submitted proper 
submission materials supporting each application in accordance with Town requirements.

c) It appears to Town Council that the annexation would be in the best interest of the 
property owners and the town.

d) The Town Council is zoning the parcel General Residential.
e) The Yemassee Town Council finds the proposed annexation and rezoning is consistent 

with the Yemassee Comprehensive Plan (as amended and revised);

Section 2. 

NOW, THEREFOR IT BE ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Yemassee, 
South Carolina, duly assembled and with authority of the same, pursuant to Section 5-3-150, 
Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976), as amended, the following described property is hereby 
annexed to and made part of the Town of Yemassee, to wit: 

ALL THOSE CERTAIN PIECES, PARCELS OR TRACTS OF LAND being known as 
R700 019 000 0064 and 4.50 acres, respectively, and all adjacent public rights of ways and 
wetlands as shown on the attached map.

An Ordinance Annexing One Parcel 
of Land owned by Darrell & Wanda 

Johnson, into the Town of 
Yemassee, South Carolina. 



This Ordinance shall become effective upon ratification. 

SO ORDERED AND ORDAINED THIS ___ Day of _______ 2021 

(Seal)_____ 

By the Yemassee Town Council being duly and lawfully assembled. 

_______________________________ 
Colin Moore, Mayor 

_______________________________ 
Matthew Garnes, Town Clerk 

_______________________________ 
Peggy Bing-O’Banner, Councilmember 

________________________________ 
Michelle Hagan, Councilmember 

________________________________ 
Chuck Simmons, Councilmember 

_______________________________
Alfred Washington, Councilmembe   r

First Reading:  _______________            
Second Reading: _______________





Planned Unit
Development

Planned Unit
Development

To Be
Determined

General
Residential

Transitional

Mixed Use

Mixed Use

General
Residential

Transitional

Transitional

R700 019 000
0064 0000

TW
IC

K
EN

H
A

M
 R

D

TR
A

SK
 P

K
W

Y

TR
A

SK
P

K
W

Y

O
L

D
S

H
E

LD
O

N
C

H
U

R
C

H

RD

COTTON HALL RD

S
H

E
LD

O
N

D
R

P
O

LLY

LN

B
R

Y
A

N
T

LN

TR
A

SK
 PK

W
Y

TR
A

SK
 PK

W
Y

B
R

IG
H

TO
N

P
A

R
K

TRASK PKW
Y

SOLOM
ON

W
HITE

LN

BAILEY RD

KIPPIT LN

B
A

IL
E

Y
 C

IR

P
R

E
S

C
O

T
T

R
D

TRASK PKW
Y

TRASK
PKW

Y

N
IX

 R
D

W
IL

L
IA

M
A

C
A

M
P

B
E

L
L

R
D

G
E

O
R

G
E

W
ILLIA

M
S

LN

TUCKAWAY RUN

S
T

O
N

E
Y

C
R

E
E

K
C

E
M

E
T

E
R

Y
R

D

Esri, HERE, Garmin, (c) OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS user community

LEGEND
ROADS

PROPOSED ANNEXATION AREA

TOWN BOUNDARY

YEMASSEE ZONING
ZONING DESCRIPTION

General Residential

Mixed Use

Planned Unit Development

Transitional

To Be Determined

PARCELS

HYDROLOGY
STREAM/RIVER

0 0.1 0.20.05

MILES

ZONING
DEPARTMENT

PROPOSED
ANNEXATION

AREA

DISCLAIMER:

The GIS maps and data distributed by the Town of Yemassee are
derived from a variety of public and private sector sources
considered to be dependable, but the accuracy, completeness, and
currency thereof are not guaranteed. The Town of Yemassee makes
no warranties, expressed or implied, as to the accuracy,
completeness, currency, reliability, or suitability for any particular
purpose of information or data contained in or generated from the
town's Geographic Information Systems database. Additionally, the
Town of Yemassee or any agent, servant, or employee thereof
assume no liability associated with the use of this data, and assume
no responsibility to maintain it in any matter or form.

PREPARED BY:
 SPATIAL ENGINEERING, INC.

CARTOGRAPHY BY:
  GOVI HINES, GISP

DATE CREATED:
 2/8/2021

DATE UPDATED:
 2/23/2021

PROPOSED
ANNEXATION

AREA



Town of Yemassee
Flood Zone Report - Beaufort 8 Apr 2021

Parcels - Beaufort
PIN: R700 019 000 0064 0000

Owner City State ZIP: HARDEEVILLE SC 29927

Owner: JOHNSON DARRELL THOMAS JR WANDA J    JTROS

Owner Street Address: PO BOX 1125

Parcel Street Address: 225 BAILEY RD

Flood Zones Beaufort
Count Classification Overlapping Quantities

1 Area of Moderate Flood Hazard 11,570.86sf (0.27acres)

1 Area of Minimal Flood Hazard 49,966.36sf (1.15acres)

THIS VERIFICATION IS MADE AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE ANY REPRESENTATION OR ASSURANCE THAT THE PROPERTY WILL
RETAIN ITS PRESENT FLOOD ZONE CLASSIFICATION FOR ANY SPECIFIED PERIOD OF TIME. THE TOWN OF YEMASSEE SHALL ASSUME NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY
ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE INFORMATION PROVIDED REGARDLESS OF HOW CAUSED; OR ANY DECISION MADE OR ACTION TAKEN OR NOT
TAKEN BY ANY PERSON IN RELIANCE UPON ANY INFORMATION OR DATA FURNISHED HEREUNDER. A FORMAL FLOOD ZONE DETERMINATION LETTER, ALONG
WITH ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE VIOLATIONS, CONDITIONAL USES, PERMITTED USES, PARKING REQUIREMENTS, ETC. MAY BE OBTAINED BY
PHONE REQUEST.



Beaufort County, South Carolina generated on 4/8/2021 1:54:19 PM EDT

Property ID (PIN) Alternate ID (AIN) Parcel Address 
Data refreshed as
of 

Assess Year Pay Year 

R700 019 000 0064 0000 00527237 225 BAILEY RD, 4/2/2021 2020 2020

Current Parcel Information 

Owner JOHNSON DARRELL THOMAS JR WANDA J JTROS

Owner Address PO BOX 1125
HARDEEVILLE SC 29927

Property Class Code ResVac Platted&Unplatted

Acreage 4.5000

Legal Description *SPLIT 4/00 4.50 AC 19/228

Historic Information 

Tax Year Land Building Market Taxes Payment 

2020 $56,300 $56,300 $450.48 $450.58 

2019 $56,300 $56,300 $444.90 $444.90 

2018 $56,300 $56,300 $414.74 $414.74 

2017 $35,800 $35,800 $379.69 $511.64 

2016 $35,800 $35,800 $370.28 $370.28 

2015 $35,800 $35,800 $355.05 $355.05 

2014 $35,800 $35,800 $425.54 $564.37 

2013 $35,800 $35,800 $414.24 $414.24 

2012 $51,075 $51,075 $348.30 $348.30 

Beaufort County, South Carolina http://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/agency/sc-beaufort-county/tab_summary_report....

1 of 2 4/8/2021, 1:54 PM



2011 $51,075 $51,075 $344.73 $344.73 

Sales Disclosure 

Grantor Book & Page Date Deed Vacant Sale Price 

JOHNSON DARRELL THOMAS III 2591 1805 6/28/2007 Fu $5  

SEGALL GRANT 2326 1127 2/14/2006 Fu $10,800  

WILSON MOLSEY % ELIZA W BARNES 1873 288 11/17/2003 Ta $3,900  

UNKNOWN OWNER 00527237 12/31/1776 Or $0  

12/31/1776 Or $0  

Improvements 

Building Type 
Use Code

Description 
Constructed Year Stories Rooms Square Footage Improvement Size 

Beaufort County, South Carolina http://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/agency/sc-beaufort-county/tab_summary_report....

2 of 2 4/8/2021, 1:54 PM



   
 
 

 
Yemassee Municipal Complex 

101 Town Cir     P.O. Box 577 Yemassee, SC 29945-0577 
Telephone (843) 589-2565   Fax (843) 589-4305 

www.townofyemassee.org 

Colin J Moore  Council Members 
Mayor  Michelle Hagan 
Peggy Bing-O’Banner  Charlie Simmons 
Mayor Pro Tempore  Alfred Washington 

Matthew Garnes   
Town Clerk   

 
Town Council Agenda Item 

 
Subject: Annexation Ordinance 21-11, Consideration of a Request for an 
Ordinance Approving Annexation of Approximately 0.88 acres of Land, located 
at Thomas Street, Yemassee, Hampton County, into the Town of Yemassee. 
 
Department: Administration 
 
Attachments:  
 
_X__ Ordinance _____ Resolution ______ Motion 
 
__X__ Support Documents                    _______ Other 
 

Summary: The Town has received a 100% Annexation Petition from the property 
owner, seeking annexation of 0.88 ac into the Town of Yemassee corporate 
limits. The parcel is contiguous to the current Town Limits via Riley Street and 
adjoining parcels on Thomas Street. The property is undeveloped and seeking 
Zoning of General Residential. 
 
Recommended Action: Town Council approve 1st reading of Annexation 
Ordinance 21-11. 
 
 
Council Action: 
____ Approved as Recommended 
____ Approved with Modifications 
____ Disapproved 
____ Tabled to Time Certain 
____ Other 
 
 



Staff Report to Town Council 
Administration 

Staff Report to Town Council on proposed Annexation of 000 Thomas St, 
Yemassee, Hampton County TMS: 198-00-00-068 / Case# ANNX-03-21-1012 

  
March 31, 2021 

Project: Williams Tract, Thomas St, Yemassee, Hampton County 

Case Number: ANNX-03-21-1012 

1. Subject 

Annexation: The applicant, Willie Williams, has petitioned to the Town of Yemassee to annex one 
parcel of real property, located in Hampton County on Thomas Street into the Town Limits of 
Yemassee. 

Tax Map Number: 198-00-00-068 

Acreage: 0.88 

Current Zoning: General Development (Hampton County Zoning) 

Current Use: Undeveloped property 

Proposed Zoning: General Residential (Town of Yemassee) 

Contiguity: The parcel petitioning for annexation is contiguous to the primary service area via Riley 
Street, which was annexed in the summer of 2018. The parcel proposing to be annexed is one of the 
last remaining donut holes on this side of town. 

Adjacent Land Use/Zoning: The parcel is adjacent to the following properties and jurisdictions, 

Direction Parcel Owner Jurisdiction 
North 198-00-00-067 

461 Riley St 
Amos & Mary Jo Riley Hampton County 

South 198-00-00-069 
71 Thomas St 

Virgina Kilgore Hampton County 

East 198-00-00-066 
107 Rowell St 

Timothy M. Primus Town of Yemassee 

West 198-00-00-075 
509 Riley St 

Dennis Jerome Jackson Town of Yemassee 

  



Staff Report to Town Council 
Administration 

Staff Report to Town Council on proposed Annexation of 000 Thomas St, 
Yemassee, Hampton County TMS: 198-00-00-068 / Case# ANNX-03-21-1012 

 

1. Staff Comments 

The applicant proposes to annex the single parcel into the Town limits. The property is undeveloped 
with no immediate plans for placement of a mobile home or new home construction. The parcel is 
served by Dominion Energy for electric and Natural gas. Telecommunications is provided by Century 
Link and Xfinity/Comcast. Lowcountry Regional Water System does not have water or wastewater on 
Thomas Street, however water does exist on Riley Street and Rowell Street to the East.  

Special Notes  

The Town of Yemassee will be able to furnish all town services upon annexation.  

The parcel would be subject to the adopted millage rate at the time of annexation, the adopted millage 
rate within the Hampton County portion of the Town of Yemassee, is 71.00 mills. The property owner 
has been provided with an estimate of their tax liability assuming the placement of one single family 
residence. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Staff Report to Town Council 
Administration 

Staff Report to Town Council on proposed Annexation of 000 Thomas St, 
Yemassee, Hampton County TMS: 198-00-00-068 / Case# ANNX-03-21-1012 

 

3. Maps 

 
*Parcel proposed for annexation shaded in purple. 

 

4. Analysis 

The following analysis has been conducted on the parcel petitioning for Annexation. 

 

1.) The application is in the best interests of the Town of Yemassee and its residents. 
a. Finding:  Any vehicles or personal/business property taxed by Hampton County will be 

subject to the city tax rate imposed for FY2021 which is 71.00 mills. Additionally, the 
property will close a donut hole which will allow for the more efficient delivery of services in 
the Riley Street neighborhood of Yemassee while giving residents access to municipal 
services. 



Staff Report to Town Council 
Administration 

Staff Report to Town Council on proposed Annexation of 000 Thomas St, 
Yemassee, Hampton County TMS: 198-00-00-068 / Case# ANNX-03-21-1012 

2.)  The property has contiguity to the Town of Yemassee corporate limits 
a. Finding: The property is contiguous to the Town of Yemassee corporate limits on two 

sides of the property and is established by both connecting parcels. The adjacent 
properties were annexed in during the 2018 Summer Annexation of Riley/Cochran/Bing 
Annexations. 

3.)   Does the Annexation avoid creating new doughnut holes or enclaves in the Town Limits? 
a. Finding: The proposed Annexation will not create any new doughnut holes or enclaves in 

the Town of Yemassee corporate limits. 
4.)  The Annexation will not create a tax burden or measurably reduce the level of service(s) 

provided to existing citizens and property owners. 
a. Finding: Based on the current use of the property along, a tax burden is not created and a 

reduction in the level of service is not anticipated. 
5.) The full impact the Annexation will have on Law Enforcement has been considered. 

a. Finding: Chief Alexander has advised this parcel will not have a negative impact on the 
services provided by the Yemassee Police Department. Upon annexation, the primary 
response agency will be the Yemassee Police Department, with backup provided via a 
Mutual-Aid agreement with the Hampton County Sheriff’s Office. The Yemassee Police 
Department would have jurisdiction on all public rights-of-way surrounding the property 
including the area in front of this parcel on Thomas Street. 

6.)  Does the petitioner understand all potential/costs & benefits associated with Annexation? 
a. Finding: The applicant has been provided with an estimated tax bill upon Annexation. As 

of this report, there have been no additional questions from the petitioner regarding the 
estimated tax bill.  

7.) Staff Recommendation  
a. Recommendation – Staff believe this Annexation would benefit the Town by providing 

municipal services and permitting locally. 
8.) Attachments 

a. Annexation Ordinance 
i. Annexation Petition 
ii. Map of area proposed to be annexed. 

b. Annexation Petition 
c. Flood Zone Map 

 



 STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA    ) 

  ) 
) 
) 

COUNTY OF HAMPTON 
TOWN OF YEMASSEE

ORDINANCE NUMBER: 
(21-11) 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING INTO THE TOWN OF YEMASSEE, ONE PARCEL 
OF LAND TOTALLING 0.88 ACRES, LOCATED ON THOMAS STREET, OWNED 
BY WILLIE WILLIAMS, IN HAMPTON COUNTY, NOT ALREADY WITHIN 
THE YEMASSEE TOWN LIMITS AND INCLUDING ALL ADJACENT PUBLIC 
RIGHTS OF WAY, RAILROAD RIGHTS OF WAY, WATERS, LOWLANDS AND 
WETLANDS. 

Section 1.              Findings of Facts 

As an incident to the adoption of this ordinance, Town Council of Yemassee finds the following 
facts to exist: 

a) Section 5-3-150, Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976) as amended, provides a method
of annexing property to a city or town by a Petition signed by all persons owning real
estate in the area requesting annexation.

b) A proper Petition has been filed with Town of Yemassee by one hundred percent (100%)
of the freeholders owning one hundred percent (100%) of the assessed value of the
contiguous property herein described, petitioning for annexation of the property to the
Town of Yemassee under the provisions of South Carolina Section 5-3-150(3) and is
requesting the Town's zoning of General Residential and have submitted proper
submission materials supporting each application in accordance with Town requirements.

c) It appears to Town Council that the annexation would be in the best interest of the
property owners and the town.

d) The Town Council is zoning the parcel General Residential.
e) The Yemassee Town Council finds the proposed annexation and rezoning is consistent

with the Yemassee Comprehensive Plan (as amended and revised);

Section 2. 

NOW, THEREFOR IT BE ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Yemassee, 
South Carolina, duly assembled and with authority of the same, pursuant to Section 5-3-150, 
Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976), as amended, the following described property is hereby 
annexed to and made part of the Town of Yemassee, to wit: 

ALL THOSE CERTAIN PIECES, PARCELS OR TRACTS OF LAND being known as 
198-00-00-068 and 0.88 acres, respectively, and all adjacent public rights of ways and wetlands 
as shown on the attached map.

An Ordinance Annexing One Parcel 
of Land owned by Willie Williams, 
into the Town of Yemassee, South 

Carolina. 



This Ordinance shall become effective upon ratification. 

SO ORDERED AND ORDAINED THIS ___ Day of _______ 2021 

(Seal)_____ 

By the Yemassee Town Council being duly and lawfully assembled. 

_______________________________ 
Colin Moore, Mayor 

_______________________________ 
Matthew Garnes, Town Clerk 

_______________________________ 
Peggy Bing-O’Banner, Councilmember 

________________________________ 
Michelle Hagan, Councilmember 

________________________________ 
Chuck Simmons, Councilmember 

_______________________________
Alfred Washington, Councilmembe   r

First Reading:  _______________            
Second Reading: _______________



General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

Mixed Use

Agricultural

General
Residential

Agricultural

Transitional

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

Agricultural

Agricultural

General
Residential

Agricultural

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

198-00-00-068.

RILEY ST

R
IL

E
Y

 S
T

R
O

W
E

L
L

S
T

C
O

C
H

R
A

N
 S

T

T
H

O
M

A
S

 S
T

F

0 160 32080

FEET

PROPOSED
ANNEXATION

AREA



General
Residential

General
Residential

Mixed Use

Agricultural

Agricultural

Transitional

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

Agricultural

Agricultural

General
Residential

Agricultural

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

General
Residential

198-00-00-068.

RILEY ST

R
O

W
E

L
L

S
T

C
O

C
H

R
A

N
 S

T

T
H

O
M

A
S

 S
T

Esri, HERE, Garmin, (c) OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS user community

LEGEND
ROADS

TOWN BOUNDARY

YEMASSEE ZONING
ZONING DESCRIPTION

Agricultural

General Residential

Mixed Use

Transitional

PARCELS

PROPOSED ANNEXATION HAMPTON

0 0.01 0.030.01

MILES

ZONING
DEPARTMENT

PROPOSED
ANNEXATION

AREA

DISCLAIMER:

The GIS maps and data distributed by the Town of Yemassee are
derived from a variety of public and private sector sources
considered to be dependable, but the accuracy, completeness, and
currency thereof are not guaranteed. The Town of Yemassee makes
no warranties, expressed or implied, as to the accuracy,
completeness, currency, reliability, or suitability for any particular
purpose of information or data contained in or generated from the
town's Geographic Information Systems database. Additionally, the
Town of Yemassee or any agent, servant, or employee thereof
assume no liability associated with the use of this data, and assume
no responsibility to maintain it in any matter or form.

PREPARED BY:
  SPATIAL ENGINEERING, INC.

CARTOGRAPHY BY:
  GOVI HINES, GISP

DATE CREATED:
  2/8/2021

DATE UPDATED:
  3/23/2021

PROPOSED
ANNEXATION

AREA





Yemassee Municipal Complex 
101 Town Cir     P.O. Box 577 Yemassee, SC 29945-0577 

Telephone (843) 589-2565   Fax (843) 589-4305 
www.townofyemassee.org 

Colin J Moore Council Members 
Mayor Michelle Hagan 
Peggy Bing-O’Banner Charlie Simmons 
Mayor Pro Tempore Alfred Washington 

Matthew Garnes 
Town Clerk 

Town Council Agenda Item 

Subject: Ordinance 21-13, Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Portions of 
the Town of Yemassee Code, within Chapter 5 (Buildings, Flood Control & 
Planning) specifically, Articles I, II, III, IV and V, titled respectively Article I. 
Administration, Article II. Codes, Article III. Building and Property Numbers, Article 
IV. Mobile Homes, Article V. Fair Housing and Article VII. Planning, Land Use & 
Zoning

Department: Administration 

Attachments:  

__X__ Ordinance ____ Resolution ______ Motion 
__X__ Support Documents  _______ Other 

Summary: Staff has completed a review of Chapter 5 and found several items 
that need to be addressed with respect to Chapter 5. This update is the first since 
the original Code was adopted and updates terminology referenced in the 
Code.  

Recommended Action: Town Council approve first reading of Ordinance 21-13, 
Amending Portions of the Town of Yemassee Code, within Chapter 5 (Buildings, 
Flood Control & Planning) specifically, Articles I, II, III, IV and V, titled respectively 
Article I. Administration, Article II. Codes, Article III. Building and Property 
Numbers, Article IV. Mobile Homes Article V. Fair Housing and Article VII. 
Planning, Land Use & Zoning

Council Action: 
____ Approved as Recommended 
____ Approved with Modifications 
____ Disapproved 
____ Tabled to Time Certain 
____ Other 



   
 
 

 
Yemassee Municipal Complex 

101 Town Cir     P.O. Box 577 Yemassee, SC 29945-0577 
Telephone (843) 589-2565   Fax (843) 589-4305 

www.townofyemassee.org 

ATTACHMENTS 
 

• ATTACHMENT A – Existing Chapter 5 in force currently 
• ATTACHMENT B – Proposed updates to Chapter 5 

 



"ATTACHMENT A"























































































































YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 

Chapter 5. Buildings, Flood Control and Planning 

ARTICLE I. ADMINISTRATION 

5.101. Authority of Inspectors. 

5.102. Ordinary Repairs, Maintenance Authorized 

5.103. Homeowner’s Provisions 

5.104. Liability Not Assumed by Town 

5.105. Unsafe Buildings. Repairs. Failure to Repair. 

5.106. Same. Notice to Remove/Correct. Summons Ordinance. 

5.107. Unfit Dwellings 

5.108. Utility Connections 

5.109. Smoke-Free Municipal Building 

5.110. Appeals 

5.111. Public Project Applications 

ARTICLE II. CODES 

5.201. Authority. Enforcement. 

ARTICLE III. BUILDING AND PROPERTY NUMBERS 

5.301. Numbers Required for Buildings and Property. 

5.302. Same. Assigned 

ARTICLE IV.  MOBILE HOMES 

5.401. Purpose and Intent of This Article 

5.402. Definition 

5.403. Requests 

5.404. Mobile Home Courts Prohibited. Exception. 

5.405. General Provisions 

5.406. Mobile Home Requirements 

ARTICLE V. FAIR HOUSING 

5.501. Month Designated. 

5.502. Program. Minimum Elements 

"ATTACHMENT B"



YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 

Chapter 5. Buildings, Flood Control and Planning 

 

This chapter derives from the 1976 South Carolina Code of Laws, Questions 22 through 
25 of the Yemassee Questionnaire and generally accepted municipal practices. This 
article has been included for local guidance. 

 

Article I. Administration 

 

5.101. Authority of Inspectors. 

The Town Council hereby vests the necessary authority for the enforcement of building 
codes and related provisions in the Town Building Inspector. The Building Inspector 
shall be appointed by the Town Council. 

(YQ 22) 

5.102. Ordinary Repairs. Maintenance Authorized. 

Ordinary minor repairs and general maintenance may be made, provided such repairs 
do not violate any of the provisions of this code, county ordinances or state statutes. 
Examples of minor repairs and general maintenance shall include, but not be limited to, 
painting, minor carpentry, etc. 

5.103. Homeowners Provisions 

a) Nothing in this chapter shall prevent any homeowner from constructing or 
maintaining buildings, or installing electrical wiring, gas piping or 
appliances or plumbing within his own property boundaries, provided such 
work is done by himself and is used exclusively by him or his family. 

b) Such privilege does not convey the right to violate any of the provisions of 
this chapter, neither is it to be construed as exempting any such property 
owner from having work inspected, if required. 

(Editors Note. Removed) 

 

5.104. Liability Not Assumed by Town 

This chapter shall not be construed to relive from or lessen the responsibility of any 
party owning, operating, controlling, or installing any building, electrical, gas or plumbing 
equipment from damages to anyone injured thereby, nor shall the town be held as 
assuming any such liability by reason of inspection authorized, herein, or certificate 
issued. 



YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 

5.105. Unsafe Buildings. Repairs. Failure to Repair 

a) Every building which shall appear to the Building Inspector to be dangerous to
life or limb or, because if its liability to fire, bad conditions of walls, overloaded
construction, decay or other cause shall be held to be unsafe, the Building
Inspector shall affix a notice of dangerous character of the structure at a
conspicuous place on the exterior wall of the building and shall give immediate
notice to the owner or agent of the correction of such condition.

b) Failure to do so in sixty (60) days, unless extended by the Mayor and Town
Council by Resolution, shall constitute a misdemeanor.

5.106. Same. Notice to Remove/Correct. Summons Ordinance 

The Building Inspector shall report his findings to the Town Clerk, Mayor & Town 
Council, which after consideration, may cause an Ordinance Summons to be issued as 
set forth in Chapter 14, Article 1, of this code for the immediate correction, removal or 
discontinuance of the hazard. 

5.107. Unfit Dwellings 

The Town Council may authorize the repairing, closing or demolition of unfit dwellings. 

(1976 SC Code 31-15-20) 

5.108. Utility Connections 

No supplier of water, wastewater, gas or electric service shall initiate or reinitiate service 
to any building, unless the Building Inspector has executed the appropriate release form 
and transmitted the release form to the appropriate utility provider. A copy of the 
executed release form will be placed into the case file for the permit. 

5.109. Smoke-Free Municipal Building 

a) The Town Hall of the Town of Yemassee, also known as the Yemassee
Municipal Complex, is hereby declared to be a smoke-free environment.

b) Violation hereof shall constitute a misdemeanor.

5.110. Appeals 

Appeals from decisions of authorized officials shall be made in writing to the Town 
Clerk, who will schedule an appeal hearing at an upcoming Council Meeting. 

5.111. Public Projects. Application Required 

The intent of this Section is to provide procedures and standards for the review of Public 
Project Applications. The review of Public Project Applications will help ensure the 
project is consistent with the spirit and intent of the Town of Yemassee while ensuring 
the Town Council, residents and business owners have ample opportunity for feedback 
regarding the proposed project and have questions regarding the project answered. Any 
fee for the application submittal shall be noted on the Schedule of Rates & Fees. 



YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 

Applicability 

a) This Ordinance applies to any utility expansion or modification (Including, but not
limited to, water and wastewater utilities, telecommunication companies,
including telecommunications towers, electric and natural gas providers), new
Town facilities, or any other infrastructure project of significance on public-rights-
of-way in and abutting the Town limits.

Application Review Criteria 

The Town of Yemassee shall consider the following criteria in assessing an application 
for a Public Project: 

a) The application form will be made available on the Town website as well as at
the Yemassee Municipal Complex. The Town Clerk will create the form and
make any updates to the form as needed.

b) The application must be completed in its entirety, signed by both the Applicant
and Property Owner(s) (where applicable).

c) The application should list a separate contact person for any necessary
communication during the project.

d) The application must be in conformance with the applicable location and
character of the Town of Yemassee.

e) Public Project Applications will be publicized utilizing the following methods:
certified mail to adjacent property owners, posted notice on Town social media
platforms and/or the Town website, and posted signage; and

f) Once a Public Project application is received by Town staff, the submittal items
will be reviewed for clarity, content, and completeness before scheduling a Town
Council hearing. Town staff may ask for further documentation to ensure the
Town Council has ample information to make an informed decision on approval,
approval with modifications or denial of the project.

Effect and Expiration of Approvals 

a) Approval of the Public Project shall authorize the applicant to:
a. Commence all improvements to the land and the construction of all

support facilities as specified by the approval; and
b. Apply for any building or other permits required for the construction of all

buildings and facilities shown and specified by approval.
b) Expiration

a. Approval of a Public Project shall expire two years from the date of its
issue unless an appreciable amount of construction and development
commences and proceeds to completion in a timely and customary
manner in accordance with the approval.

Extensions of Approvals 



YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 

Upon request by the Applicant and in conformance with the requirements of this article, 
the Town of Yemassee shall grant not more than five extensions for a period of one 
year each. 

Amendments to Approved Public Projects 

Modifications or amendments to the plan may be approved by the Town of Yemassee 
where the proposed revision does not substantially alter the basic design approved by 
the Town of Yemassee. Should the Town of Yemassee determine that the requested 
amendment alters the approved plan, a new, separate Public Project application shall 
be submitted. 

5.112. Permits. Application Required 

The following building activities require a permit from the Town, and any fees if 
applicable, shall be maintained in the schedule of rates and fees. Permits shall be valid 
for six months from the date of issue. A Permit may be renewed once, following a 
written request to the Town is supplied and Town Staff have submitted a response. 

• New Residential Construction
• Residential Addition
• New Commercial Construction
• Commercial Addition
• Mobile Home Placement
• Gas Permit
• Electrical Permit
• HVAC Permit



YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 

 

Article II. Codes 

(Previous editors note has been removed) 

 

5.201. Authority & Enforcement 

The authority to adopt codes and enforce provisions thereof for the Town of Yemassee, 
including Building and related provisions such as electrical, plumbing, etc. is hereby 
delegated to the Building Inspector. 

 

(YQ 25) 

  



YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 

Article III. Building and Property Numbers 

(Previous editors note has been removed) 

5.301. Numbers Required for Buildings and Property 

a) All buildings and properties located within the corporate limits shall display an
address number.

b) The owner, occupant or agent of each building and property shall place or cause
to be placed upon each building and property owned or occupied by him the
number assigned, as follows:

a. Numbers shall be durable and clearly visible
b. Numbers shall be placed conspicuously immediately above to the side of

the door facing the street so that the number can be plainly seen from the
street. If the building is more than fifty (50) feet from the street, the number
shall be placed near the sidewalk, post, tree, or other appropriate place so
that the number can be seen plainly from the street.

c. If the building has a street-side mailbox, the number may be painted upon
or affixed to the mailbox. It shall, as closely as possible, approximate the
height of three (3) inches, as space permits, provided it can be plainly
seen from the street.

d. It shall be the responsibility of the owner, occupant, or agent of each
existing or newly acquired or constructed building and property who does
not know the number assigned to his building or property to obtain the
number.

5.302. Same. Assigned 

Properties located within Beaufort County portion of the Town of Yemassee, shall 
procure their address from the Beaufort County Sheriff’s Office E911 addressing office. 

Properties located within Hampton County portion of the Town of Yemassee, shall 
procure their address from the Hampton County Building Department. 



YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 

Article IV. Mobile Homes 

Editors Note; This chapter derives from the Yemassee Questionnaire, Number 28 and 
generally accepted municipal practices, to ensure such homes are classified for tax 
purposes. (See 8.301, this code). 

5.401. Purpose and Intent of this Article 

The purpose and intent of this article shall be to: 

a) Provide a sound and healthy residential environment to meet the unique needs of
inhabitants living in mobile homes.

b) Provide certain standards, provisions and requirements for safe and sanitary
needs and methods for present and future inhabitants of mobile homes within the
Town of Yemassee.

5.402. Definition 

Definitions as used in this article: 

1) Mobile home shall mean any vehicle or similar portable structure having no
foundation other than wheels, jacks or skirting, and so designed or constructed
as to permit occupancy for dwelling or sleeping purposes.

2) Mobile home park shall mean any mobile home park (one parcel of land) where
two (2) or more units are used for dwelling or sleeping purposes.

3) Mobile home unit shall mean any plot of ground within a mobile home park
designed for the accommodation of a mobile home, camper, etc.

(YTC 5.1) 

5.403. Requests 

a) A request shall be submitted to the Town Clerk, for tax purposes, before a mobile
home can be moved into the town.

b) The applicant shall complete a Town of Yemassee Manufactured / Mobile Home
Permit and submit it to the Town for review to ensure compliance with zoning,
setbacks and any zoning overlays. The application shall be submitted with a bill
of sale and a certificate of title for the mobile home, thereby establishing
ownership and registration at the time of application.

c) The applicant shall complete a Water & Sewer Availability form with Lowcountry
Regional Water System to verify if there is water and sewer available in front of
the property.

d) Once a permit is issued, it must be prominently displayed on the property.
e) This section shall not apply to singlewide mobile homes located in the Town on

or before the effective date of adoption of this section of code.



YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 

5.404. Mobile Home Courts Prohibited 

No mobile home court shall be authorized to operate in the Town, except those in 
operation prior to the adoption of this article, unless approved by Resolution of the 
Mayor & Town Council. 

 

5.405. General Provisions 

a) Mobile homes located within the Town shall be entitled to all town services, 
health and sanitation measures afforded to single family residences. 

b) Mobile homes shall be subject to all tax ordinances applicable to any residence. 
c) Any plumbing used in a mobile home shall hereby be subject to the provisions of 

Chapter 17 of this code. 
d) To ensure that no provision of this article has been violated, officials of the Town 

are hereby authorized to enter upon any mobile home lot at reasonable hours for 
the purpose of inspecting same. 

e) It shall be unlawful to park or store any mobile home on any tract of ground, 
street, alley, highway, sidewalk or other public place in the Town, except as 
provided for in this article. 

5.406. Mobile Home Requirements 

a) Mobile homes shall be on a permanent brick, permanent block or other concrete 
reinforced foundation that extends the perimeter of the mobile home on a 
concrete footing. 

b) Except for electrical and telephone connections, mobile homes shall have 
permanent utility hookups, water metered at the property line, and water utility 
connections concealed from view. 

c) Each mobile home shall have separate connections to the water and sewer 
mains operated by Lowcountry Regional Water System. 

(YTC Chapter 15) 

  



YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 

Article V. Fair Housing 

Editors Note: The month of April has been set aside nationally and, in many 
municipalities, to declare that: 

5.501. Month Designated 

a) The month of April is hereby designated as Fair Housing Month in the Town of
Yemassee.

b) It is the intent of the Town Council that all citizens of Yemassee be afforded to
the opportunity to obtain a decent, safe and sound living environment, regardless
of race, religion, color, creed, sexual orientation, homelessness; that every
citizen be afforded the opportunity to select a home of their choice.

c) Annually, the Town shall publish its Fair Housing Proclamation and its policy on
Non-Discrimination in the newspaper of general circulation, The Beaufort
Gazette, each April.

(YQ 26) 

5.502. Program. Minimum Elements 

a) The Town of Yemassee shall publicize this section to encourage owners of real
estate, developers, and builders to become aware of their respective
responsibilities and rights under the Federal and State Fair Housing Law and
amendments, state laws or local laws and ordinances.

b) Said program will at a minimum include a printing and publicizing of this policy
and other applicable fair housing information through local media and community
contacts and the distribution of posters, flyers and any other means that will bring
to the attention of those affected the knowledge of their respective
responsibilities and rights concerning equal opportunity in housing.



YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 































































































YEMASSEE TOWN CODE 

Article VII. Planning, Land Use & Zoning 

 

(Previous Editor’s Note removed) 

 

5.701. Commission Established 

There is hereby established a Planning Commission to consist of five (5) members, who 
are appointed by the Mayor and Town Council for terms of three (3) years.  

 

5.702. Same. Authority 

The Commission shall exercise such authority as provided by State Laws. (South 
Carolina Code of Laws, Chapter 29, Article 1) 

 

5.703. Same. Similar Ordinances 

In addition to the above referenced ordinance, all other ordinances pertaining to 
planning, land use, zoning, etc., are not rescinded by this code. The same shall remain 
in effect as adopted as if fully set forth herein verbatim. 

 

 

Article VIII. Penalties 

5.801. Penalty 

a) Any person, persons, firm, company, representative of any firm or company and 
otherwise violating the provisions of this chapter shall, upon conviction, be guilty 
of a misdemeanor.  

b) Each day during which a violation of the provisions in this chapter occurs, or 
each separate instance, shall be considered a separate offense punishable by a 
fine not exceeding five hundred dollars ($500.00) or imprisonment not exceeding 
thirty (30) days, or both. 

(1976 SC Code 14-25-65) 

 

 

Matthew
Highlight



TOWN OF YEMASSEE 

Ordinance No. 21-13 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING PORTIONS OF THE TOWN OF YEMASSEE 
CODE, WITHIN CHAPTER 5 (BUILDINGS, FLOOD CONTROL & 

PLANNING), SPECIFICALLY; ARTICES I, II, III, IV, V & VII, TITLED 
RESPECTIVELY ARTICLE I ADMINISTRATION, ARTICLE II. CODES, 
ARTICLE III. BUILDING AND PROPERTY NUMBERS, ARTICLE IV. 
MOBILE HOMES, ARTICLE V. FAIR HOUSING AND ARTICLE VII. 

PLANNING, LAND USE AND ZONING. 

 

NOW, THEREFOR, BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council of the Town of 
Yemassee, in Council duly assembled, hereby amends portions of the Town of 
Yemassee Code, Chapter 5 including the Ordinance Numbers below within Article 
I, Article II, Article III, Article IV, Article V & Article VII. A copy of the existing 
text of Chapter 5 is attached and is referenced as “Exhibit A” and the proposed 
updates are attached and referenced as “Exhibit B”, with modifications 
highlighted. 

Section 1.  

The following Ordinances within Chapter 5 have been modified or created: 

 

Text Amendment: 5.101. Authority of Inspectors 

Text Amendment: 5.103. Homeowners Provisions 

Text Amendment: 5.105. Unsafe Buildings. Repairs. Failure to Repair 

Text Amendment: 5.106. Same. Notice to Remove/Correct. Summons 
Ordinance 

Text Amendment: 5.108. Utility Connections 

Text Amendment: 5.109. Smoke-Free Municipal Building 

Text Amendment: 5.110 Appeals 

Addition: 5.111. Public Projects. Application Required 

Addition. 5.112. Permits. Application Required 



Text Amendment: 5.201. Authority & Enforcement 

Text Amendment: 5.302. Same. Assigned 

Text Amendment: 5.403. Requests 

Text Amendment: 5.404. Mobile Home Courts Prohibited 

Text Amendment: 5.405. General Provisions 

Text Amendment: 5.406. Mobile Home Requirements 

Text Amendment: 5.501. Month Designated 

Text Amendment: 5.701. Commission Established 

Text Amendment: 5.702. Same. Authority 

 

Section 2.  

All ordinances or part of ordinances, in conflict herewith are to the extent of 
such conflict, hereby repealed. 

Section 3. 

 Any chapter, article, section, or subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of 
this ordinance is for any reason declared to be unconstitutional or invalid by a 
court of competent jurisdiction, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions hereof. 

Section 4. 

 No modifications have been made to Article 6, Flood Damage Control 

Section 4. 

 The modified or newly created sections of ordinance shall become effective 
upon its second reading and adoption. 

 

 

________________________                                 __________________________ 

First Reading      Second Reading 



 

________________________                        _____________________________ 

Colin J. Moore, Mayor    Peggy O’Banner, Mayor Pro Tem 

 

_________________________                       _____________________________ 

ATTEST: Matthew E. Garnes, Town Clerk   Chuckie Simmons, Councilmember 

 

 

___________________________                   ______________________________ 

Alfred Washington, Council Member              Michelle Hagan, Councilmember 

 

 

 

(seal) 

 



   
 
 

 
Yemassee Municipal Complex 

101 Town Cir     P.O. Box 577 Yemassee, SC 29945-0577 
Telephone (843) 589-2565   Fax (843) 589-4305 

www.townofyemassee.org 

Colin J Moore  Council Members 
Mayor  Michelle Hagan 
Peggy Bing-O’Banner  Charlie Simmons 
Mayor Pro Tempore  Alfred Washington 

Matthew Garnes   
Town Clerk   

 
Town Council Agenda Item 

 
Subject: Resolution 21-17, Consideration of a Resolution Authorizing the 
Execution of an Intergovernmental Agreement between the Town of Yemassee 
and Beaufort County for Special Projects and Associated Services. 
 
Department: Administration 
 
Attachments:  
 
____ Ordinance __X__ Resolution ______ Motion 
 
__X__ Support Documents                    _______ Other 
 

Summary: With the growth the Town is seeing there will undoubtedly be the 
need for assistance with certain Town projects that is outside of the scope and 
capability of Town Staff. This Resolution Authorizes the Execution of an 
Intergovernmental Agreement with Beaufort County to utilize departments such 
as Engineering, which would be substantially more cost-effective and a quicker 
turn-around time, should the Town need assistance.  
 
Recommended Action: Town Council adopt Resolution 21-17, Authorizing the 
Execution of the Intergovernmental Agreement between the Town of Yemassee 
and Beaufort County. 
 
 
Council Action: 
____ Approved as Recommended 
____ Approved with Modifications 
____ Disapproved 
____ Tabled to Time Certain 
____ Other 
 
 



RESOLUTION 21-17 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF YEMASSEE, SOUTH CAROLINA TOWN COUNCIL, 

AUTHORIZING THE TOWN CLERK TO AUTHORIZE THE EXECUTION OF AN 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE TOWN OF YEMASSEE AND 

BEAUFORT COUNTY FOR SPECIAL PROJECTS AND ASSOCIATED SERVICES. 
 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to S.C. Code of Laws Sections 4-9-40, and 6-1-20, and Article VIII 
Section 13 of the State of South Carolina Constitution, cities and counties may enter into 
agreements to provide for joint services when mutually desirable; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town and County seek to establish an agreement whereby the County and 
Town may offer aid and assistance to each other for the engineering and construction 
management of Special Projects and Associated Services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town and County agree that Special Projects and Associated Services include 
Project Management, Inspection Services, Community Relations, Utility Service Agency Co-
ordination, Maintenance and Public Affairs related to those projects which have a defined 
beginning and conclusion; and 
 
WHEREAS, both the County and the Town recognize they possess less capability and capacity 
when operating separately but greater capability and capacity when leveraging their collective 
strengths together for well-defined projects or tasks; and 
 
WHEREAS, pending County Council and Town Council approval of the annual budget, both 
intend to possess adequate funds to adequately resource anticipated mutual support; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County and Town will jointly agree on a timetable for providing support 
prior to the execution of support by the County or Town for the benefit of the County or 
Town; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of Yemassee, 
South Carolina, that 

 
1. The Yemassee Town Council hereby authorizes Matthew Garnes, Town Clerk, execute the 

attached Intergovernmental Agreement between the Town of Yemassee & Beaufort County for 
Special Projects and Associated Services.  

2. The Yemassee Town Council authorizes Matthew Garnes, Town Clerk, to be the liaison between 
the Town and County with matters pertaining to the attached Intergovernmental Agreement.   

 
ADOPTED, THIS 13th DAY OF April 2021. 

 
               
        Colin Moore 

  Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________      
Matthew E. Garnes 
Town Clerk        (Seal) 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
) INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
) SPECIAL PROJECTS AND ASSOCIATED 

SERVICES 
COUNTY OF BEAUFORT ) 

THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (IGA) is made and entered into this 13th 
day of April, 2021 by and between the Town of Yemassee, South Carolina, (hereinafter referred to 
as the "Town"), and Beaufort County, South Carolina (hereinafter referred to as the "County"). 

WHEREAS, the Town and County seek to establish an agreement whereby the County and 
Town may offer aid and assistance to each other for the engineering and construction management 
of Special Projects and Associated Services; and 

WHEREAS, the Town and County agree that Special Projects and Associated Services in-
clude Project Management, Inspection Services, Community Relations, Utility Service Agency Co-
ordination, Maintenance and Public Affairs related to those projects which have a defined begin-
ning and conclusion; and 

WHEREAS, both the County and the Town recognize they possess less capability and ca-
pacity when operating separately but greater capability and capacity when leveraging their collec-
tive strengths together for well-defined projects or tasks; and 

WHEREAS, pending County Council and Town Council approval of the annual budget, 
both intend to possess adequate funds to adequately resource anticipated mutual support; and 

WHEREAS, the County and the Town agree to a fee schedule based on an agreed upon 
hourly rate for the service provided prior to the commencement of the requested support com-
mences; and 

WHEREAS, the County and the Town both retain the option of agreeing to execute this 
IGA or leveraging other solutions based on the best interests of the Town or County respectively; 
and 

WHEREAS, the County and Town will perform a cost benefit analysis for each project or 
tasking to fully understand the true costs of the service provided before approving execution of 
support by the County or Town for the benefit of the County or Town; and 

WHEREAS, the County and Town jointly agree on a timetable for providing support prior 
to the execution of support by the County or Town for the benefit of the County or Town; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to S.C. Code of Laws Sections 4-9-40, and 6-1-20, and Article VIII 
Section 13 of the State of South Carolina Constitution, cities and counties may enter into agree-
ments to provide for joint services when mutually desirable; and 

"ATTACHMENT A"



 
NOW, THEREFORE, the below listed agreement is established to better serve the needs of 

both the County or Town with respect to Special Projects and Associated Services within the 
County, Town or both. 

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 
A. AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE - Shall be the County Administrator, the Town Man-
ager or a designated employee of entity who is authorized the County Administrator or Town Man-
ager in writing by that government to request, offer, or provide assistance under the terms of this 
Agreement. 

B. PERIOD OF ASSISTANCE: The period of time beginning with the authorization by the 
County or Town to perform Special Projects or Associated Services following a clear understanding 
of cost, codified by joint memorandum, by both the County and Town. 

SECTION 2 - PROCEDURES 

A. REQUEST FOR ASSISTANCE: The County or the Town may initiate informal discussions at 
the Staff level with staff counterparts to secure basic support and cost data elements.  These infor-
mal discussions will provide the facts required for Staff to brief senior management at both the 
County and Town.  Once approved by both the County and Town, a joint memorandum will be 
drafted by the requesting organization, either the County or Town for signature by authorized rep-
resentatives of both the County and Town.  

C. INSPECTION: Once authorized by the requesting organization to perform work, the organ-
ization providing the service will provide weekly updates on the status of the assigned task.  The 
staff member responsible for executing that requested support will inform leadership of the progress 
in order to ensure projects remain on schedule and within the agreed upon budget.   

D. SUPERVISION AND CONTROL: The personnel, equipment and resources of the County 
or Town shall remain under operational control of the County or Town based on who requests 
support and who is receiving support for all work being done under this agreement. The designated 
supervisory personnel of the organization providing support shall: maintain daily personnel time 
records, material records, and a log of equipment hours; be responsible for the operation and 
maintenance of the equipment and other resources furnished by the supporting organization; and 
shall report work progress to the organization receiving the requested support. 

E. COMMUNICATIONS: Unless specifically instructed otherwise, the organization providing 
requested support shall have the responsibility for coordinating communications between the per-
sonnel of both the County and the Town. 

F. INVOICES: Based on which organization is providing support, invoices shall be submitted 
to the organization receiving support when a particular project or task has been completed or in a 
way agreed upon by both the County and Town by way of the project authorization joint memo-
randum. 



G. PAYMENT: Based on which organization provides support, invoices shall be paid, or ad-
vise of any disputed items, not later than thirty (30) days following the billing date. 

SECTION 3 - INSURANCE 

Each Party to this agreement shall bear the risk of its own actions, as it does with its day-to-day 
operations, and determine for itself what kinds of insurance, and in what amounts, it should carry. 
Each party shall be solely responsible for determining that its insurance is current and adequate 
prior to providing assistance under this Agreement. 

SECTION 4 - LIABILITY 

Each Party to this Agreement shall be responsible for any and all claims, demands, suits, actions, 
damages, and causes of action related to or arising out of or in any way connected with its own 
actions, and the actions of its personnel, in providing mutual aid assistance rendered or performed 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

SECTION 5 - TERM 

The initial term of this Agreement shall be for two (2) years from the date approved by both the 
County and Town Council, with the option to renew for three additional one (1) year renewal terms, 
for a total not to exceed five (5) years. This agreement may be terminated upon sixty (60) days 
advance written notice by the Parties to this agreement. Notice of termination shall not relieve the 
withdrawing Party from obligations incurred hereunder prior to the effective date of the withdrawal. 

SECTION 6 - SEVERABILITY: EFFECT ON OTHER AGREEMENTS 

Should any portion, section, or subsection of this Agreement be held to be invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, that fact shall not affect or invalidate any other portion, section or subsec-
tion; and the remaining portions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and affect without 
regard to the section, portion, or subsection or power invalidated. 

In the event that any parties to this Agreement have entered into other mutual aid agreements or 
inter-local agreements, those parties agree that said agreements are superseded by this Agreement 
only for emergency management assistance and activities performed in major disasters, pursuant to 
this Agreement. In the event that parties to this Agreement have not entered into another mutual 
aid agreement, and the parties wish to engage in mutual aid, then the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement shall apply unless otherwise agreed between those parties. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town of Yemassee, South Carolina and Beaufort County, South 
Carolina, by and through their duly authorized officers have set their hands and seals on this 13th 
day of April 2021. 

 



 

 

WITNESSES:     BEAUFORT COUNTY 

_________________________   By: ______________________ 

_________________________   Its: ______________________ 

 

WITNESSES:    TOWN OF YEMASSEE  

_________________________   By: _______________________ 

_________________________   Its: _______________________ 



   
 
 

 
Yemassee Municipal Complex 

101 Town Cir     P.O. Box 577 Yemassee, SC 29945-0577 
Telephone (843) 589-2565   Fax (843) 589-4305 

www.townofyemassee.org 

Colin J Moore  Council Members 
Mayor  Michelle Hagan 
Peggy Bing-O’Banner  Charlie Simmons 
Mayor Pro Tempore  Alfred Washington 

Matthew Garnes   
Town Clerk   

 
 
 

Administration Monthly Report 
March 2021 

 
 

 
 Town Operations / Community Events & Meetings 

• Weekly meetings with senior staff team 
• Daily meeting with Mayor & Town Clerk 
• Attended SoLoCo Meeting virtually on March 22, 2021 
• Attended Northern Beaufort County Regional Plan Meeting on March 26, 

2021 
• Attended the Beaufort Regional Chamber Economic Forecast 
• Assisted with COVID-19 testing events each Monday in the month of 

March 2021. 
• Assisted with logistics surrounding the vaccine event in Yemassee on 

Thursday, April 8, 2021. 
• Applied for and awarded a $25,000 PARD grant for the Willis Street 

Basketball Court 
• Met with Ian Scott of Beaufort Regional Chamber of Commerce and John 

O’Toole of Beaufort County Economic Development Corp. 
• Met with Mayor Moore, John O’Toole and Charlie Stone at the Don Ryan 

Center in Bluffton. 
• Worked with BCEDC on organizing a workforce employment meeting with 

Alpha Genesis, Ferguson Forest Products and Vetrostone USA. 
• Conducted the bid for surplus equipment and subsequently awarded to 

the highest bidder. 
 
 
 



   
 
 

 
Yemassee Municipal Complex 

101 Town Cir     P.O. Box 577 Yemassee, SC 29945-0577 
Telephone (843) 589-2565   Fax (843) 589-4305 

www.townofyemassee.org 

Colin J Moore  Council Members 
Mayor  Michelle Hagan 
Peggy Bing-O’Banner  Charlie Simmons 
Mayor Pro Tempore  Alfred Washington 

Matthew Garnes   
Town Clerk   

 
 
 

Public Works Monthly Report 
March 2021 

 
 

• Placed 18 new trash cans into service. Zone C is mostly complete 
• Placed new playground equipment into service at Moore’s Park. One more 

piece to be installed. 
• New street signs installed at: 

o Poston Dr 
o Oak Plaza Dr 
o Reeves St 
o St. Clair St 

• Posted new Town limit signs at: 
o William A Campbell Rd 
o Bailey Rd 
o Old Sheldon Church Rd 
o US Hwy 17 A (replacement) 

• Painted the Community Center and Harold Peeples Ballfield. Shed 
scheduled for next week. 
 

 
 
 


	03-09-21-town-council-meeting-minutes-with-public-comment.pdf
	tc agenda item cover sheet - Copy.pdf
	03-09-21-town-council-meeting-minutes.pdf
	CCL_Yemassee Town Council_BaileyRdAnnexation.pdf
	Public Comment Yemassee - Michael Weiss - 9 March 2021.pdf
	Public Comment March 9.pdf

	Annexation Ordinance 21-07 (225 Bailey Rd).pdf
	Annexation Ordinance 21-07.pdf
	Annexation Ordinance 21-05.pdf
	Annexation Map - Large 20210223.pdf


	Annexation Ordinance 21-11 (Thomas St).pdf
	tc agenda item cover sheet - Copy.pdf
	Staff Report Annexation Williams (Thomas St).pdf
	Annexation Map - Hampton - Letter 20210323.pdf
	doc02241220210408130759.pdf
	Annexation Ordinance 21-05.pdf

	Ordinance 21-13 binder.pdf
	tc agenda item cover sheet - Copy.pdf
	5._buildings_flood_control_and_planning.pdf
	Chapter 5 UPDATE.pdf

	Resolution 21-17 Beaufort Co IGA.pdf
	tc agenda item cover sheet - Copy.pdf
	Resolution 20-17.pdf
	Yemassee IGA Special Projects 3-31-21.pdf
	SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS
	SECTION 2 - PROCEDURES
	SECTION 4 - LIABILITY
	SECTION 5 - TERM
	SECTION 6 - SEVERABILITY: EFFECT ON OTHER AGREEMENTS





